The Alabama Counseling Association Journal



- Enhancing human development through the lifespan
- Promoting public confidence and trust in the counseling profession
- Caring for self and others
- Acquiring and using knowledge
- Respecting diversity
- Empowering leadership
- Encouraging positive change

Letter from the Editor

Welcome to the Fall 2016 edition of The Alabama Counseling Association Journal. This has been an exciting and challenging year. There are so many current issues impacting the counseling profession; including, legislation and laws relative LGBT, the general fund budget, and changes to counselor supervision for licensure. CACREP and CORE are about to merge which will have a significant impact on counselor education programs.

Professional or specialized accreditation is the process whereby a college or university professional program (e.g. counseling) voluntarily undergoes review by an accrediting body such as the Council for the Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs (CACREP) or its corporate affiliate, the Council on Rehabilitation Education (CORE). CACREP, along with CORE, evaluate graduate education programs in professional counseling against the preparation standards developed and endorsed by the counseling profession. The purpose of establishing standards for graduate education in counseling is to promote excellence in each program's curricular offerings and to prepare competent counseling practitioners. CACREP and CORE are recognized by the Council for Higher Education Accreditation (CHEA) which oversees the practice and procedures of over 60 academic accreditation bodies.

Government sanctioned credentialing is usually called licensure and is based on the legal concept of the regulatory power of the state. This power holds that the state has the right and obligation to pass laws and take other such actions as it may deem necessary to protect the health, safety and welfare of its citizens. Passage of a state licensure or credentialing law for a given profession restricts or prohibits the practice of that profession by individuals not meeting state-determined qualification standards, and violators may be subject to legal sanctions such as fines, loss of license to practice, or imprisonment.

Separate from state laws and regulations, voluntary certification from independent professional certification organizations for counseling and a host of specializations within the counseling profession have been created to establish recognition of those practitioners as having met the minimum standards of education and supervised clinical experience as set by the profession. Certification is not required; rather it is strictly voluntary. This certification attests to the fact that the holder of this certification has met the standards of the credentialing organization and is therefore entitled to make the public aware of this as further documentation of his or her professional competence. In and of itself, however, this certification is not a practice credential but rather a professional credential in that it does not give the holder permission to practice. That permission is given only by the governmentally sanctioned entity. The two leading certification organizations for the counseling profession are the National Board for Certified Counselors (NBCC) and the Commission on Rehabilitation Counselor Certification (CRCC).

We as a profession need to stand strong together to bring about ways to better serve our clients and the community. This is also an election year that hopefully will bring about new changes rather than more setbacks. Please don't forget to VOTE.

Dr. Eddie Clark

Editor



Alabama Counseling Association

Assisting the Professionals of Alabama since 1966

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Proposal for Crisis Management Training in Counselor Education Programs	5
Juanita Barnett, Sarah Fucillo, Patrick Murphy, Morgan Jenkins, & Erica Stallings	
Auburn University	
Building Resiliency in Counselors in Training for Counselors Educators	25
Yulanda Tyre, Maranda Griffin, & Robyn Trippany Simmons	
Walden University	
Nontraditional Students in Counselor Education: Informing Recruitment and Retention	45
Linda Ouellette & Sandra Pollock	
Troy University	
Improving Minority Student Mental Health: Implications and Strategies for Campus Mental Health Providers	69
Kimberly P. Jenkins-Richardson	
University of Alabama	
The CACREP/CORE Merger: Implications for the Rehabilitation Counseling Identity	83
Suzanne Tew-Washburn	
Troy University	

Proposal for Crisis Management Training in Counselor Education Programs

Juanita Barnett,

Sarah Fucillo,

Patrick Murphy,

Morgan Jenkins, and

Erica Stallings

Auburn University

Author Note

Correspondence concerning this article should be addressed to Ms. Juanita Barnett, Auburn Athletic Complex, Auburn University, AL 36849. E-mail: jdb0088@auburn.edu; Phone: 334-844-4750.

Abstract

In this paper, the authors explore leading early interventions for crisis management in Disaster Mental Health (DMH). Specifically, the practices of Critical Incident Stress Debriefing (CISD), Psychological First Aid (PFA), and additional trainings outside of the academic setting such as HOPE Animal-Assisted Crisis Response (HOPE AACR) are investigated through the examination of several resources. There is a growing expectation for the counseling profession to be more involved with providing services to individuals effected by disasters. Thus, an exploration of the Council for Accreditation of Counseling & Related Education Programs (CACREP) 2016 standards regarding crisis and disaster training in counselor education programs is conducted. The authors propose an exploratory content analysis to determine what is currently being taught in CACREP accredited southeastern counselor education programs and if it aligns with current DMH research.

Keywords: disaster mental health, counselor education, crisis, critical incident stress debriefing, psychological first aid, training

Proposal for Crisis Management Training in Counselor Education Programs

The beginnings of disaster mental health (DMH) started in the 1980s as a way to study large amounts of people in the aftermath of a disaster, so mental health practitioners could have a better understanding of personal crises (Halpern & Tramontin, 2007). Disaster is defined as a traumatic event on a large scale that affects a wider area and population of people, often leaving a permanent mark on the environment or community (Myers & Wee, 2005). According to Eranen & Liebkind (1993) and Green (1991), disasters typically result in a social disruption in which the social structure and the function of the local community are threatened, resulting in an increase of community needs. Individual crisis management has been around since the 1970s (Pope & Marsh, 2012). However, crisis counseling has been around since World War II due to the need for psychologists and psychiatrists to treat soldiers with post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). This allowed for soldiers to return to duty quicker than without any treatment (Pope & Marsh, 2012). It was not until 1989 that crisis interventions were formally recognized by the American Psychiatric Association, 2013 (Hillman, 2002). DMH has changed significantly from its beginnings during World War II to present day and will continue to transform, as there is no academic specialty, only certifications and additional training for this line of work.

DMH professionals and services are needed more than ever due to advances in technology, the development of highly populated cities in the past, and the increase of disaster events (Pope & Marsh, 2012). These technological and industrial growths allow for acts of terrorism, human-caused disasters, and natural disasters that can affect enormous amounts of people. The Oklahoma City, Boston Marathon Bombings, 9/11, Hurricane Katrina, and the Virginia Tech Shootings all had an instrumental impact on mental health providers requiring training on preparing and responding to violence, trauma, and tragedies. The American

Counseling Association (ACA) created a Crisis Response Planning Task Force to address these challenges. This task force focused on preparing counselors to implement DMH services in response to natural disasters, terrorist acts, and incidents of group violence; however, while the need for this training has been established there are still questions about the content and nature of this. Thus, it is important that the methods and training that have been recommended be considered related to research, application, and training. The purpose of this manuscript is to review the current literature on DMH interventions and discuss how they apply to the CACREP standards and counselor preparation in counselor education programs.

Critical Incident Stress Debriefing

An area that has been integrated into crisis management training is debriefing. This is one intervention that has been used with disaster survivors and is defined as "a structured group process that responds to the cognitive, emotional, physical, and social reactions resulting from disasters and other traumatic events" (Miller, 2003, p. 7). One method of debriefing that has been empirically supported is Critical Incident Stress Debriefing (CISD) which was originally identified as a treatment for trauma by Mitchell in his seminal 1983 article, *When disaster strikes* ... *The critical incident stress debriefing process*. Since that time, there has been research both encouraging its use and claiming that it is harmful.

CISD is a small group intervention for homogenous groups consisting of members who have experienced a critical incident. It was originally designed for use with first responders such as military personnel (Mitchell, 1983). The group is typically based on seven phases with the goal of making it possible for the group members to return to duty. The seven phases utilized are the introduction phase, fact phase, thought phase, reaction phase, symptom phase, teaching phase, and re-entry phase (Mitchell, 1983). During the introduction phase, team members are

introduced and the process/guidelines are discussed. In the facts phase, participants are asked to provide a brief overview of the event, however providing too much detail is discouraged. This is also used as an opportunity to get each member to share. In the thought phase, participants are asked to describe their initial thoughts and again, each group member is asked one by one to contribute. The reaction phase is the main focus of CISD as it highlights the impact on the participants. It is common for anger, sadness, loss, and other charged emotions to be manifested; as participants are asked questions to help illicit these emotions. In moving to the symptoms phase, participants are asked what physical, emotional, behavioral, and cognitive symptoms they have been experiencing. This information is then utilized to inform the focus of the next phase, teaching. During the teaching phase, symptoms are discussed and normalized. It is also common for specific information and education to be provided specifically related to the type of incident that occurred. Finally, during the re-entry phase, participants are encouraged to ask any other questions or to state any final statements regarding their experience regarding the incident or CISD process. The facilitator also summarizes what has been discussed and final guidance or directives are given to the participants (Mitchell, 1983; Everly, Flannery, & Mitchell, 2000).

These phases illicit the group members to discuss the incident itself, such as what stood out to them most, as well as the symptoms they are currently experiencing or will experience.

The idea being that by completing the phases this will help the group members make sense of the situation and process their reactions. Finally, the CISD facilitators provide stress reduction information and potential referrals if necessary. The main goal of CISD being to decrease the psychological stress associated with critical incidents that impair functioning (Everly, Flannery, & Mitchell, 2000).

Since the development of CISD, there has been some confusion when discussing CISD due to CISD being a part of a larger intervention model called Crisis Incident Stress

Management (CISM) (Everly & Mitchell, 1997). According to Talbott (2009), CISD is a component of CISM that relies on survivor "reconstruction/recall of images and emotions, ventilation and normalization of reactions to traumatic experiences." Thus indicating that CISD should not be examined as a standalone mechanism for helping those in crisis, but rather as a main component of CISM. CISM is characterized by a multi component approach, including CISD, but also individual support, family support, general education and consultation with those organizations that are involved (Robinson, 2004). This is important to note as it is one of the rebuttals made against current research that speaks critically of CISD.

CISD has inspired a large body of outcome research (Wei, Szumilas, & Kutcher, 2010; Paterson, Whittle, & Kemp, 2014; Mitchell, 2004; Richards, 2001), though most current research seems to be highly critical, especially looking at CISD as a standalone intervention (Richards, 2001). Wei, Szumilas, and Kutcher (2010) found in their meta-analysis of research data that CISD was not an effective intervention, and in some instances appeared to cause harm. Specifically, they found that CISD was ineffective at lessening poor psychological responses to trauma. Similar findings were indicated in a more recent study by Paterson, Whittle, & Kemp (2014). This study applied CISD techniques on undergraduates exposed to a stressful video and found that CISD did not prevent intrusive thoughts about the images they viewed. The research of Paterson, Whittle, & Kemp (2014) also indicated that the groups in which CISD had been used showed inaccuracies when describing their experience after the techniques had been administered.

Conversely, other researchers have found support for utilizing CISD as part of a CISM protocol instead of a standalone intervention (Mitchell, 2004; Richards, 2001). Mitchell (2004) specified that much of the research seemed to use a single session of CISD, which is not the recommended use. Research that is supportive of CISD also shows that it is more effective when utilized as part of CISM and other multifaceted approaches (Richards, 2001). Richards (2001) indicated that these include pre and post incident interventions as well as referrals to further counseling when appropriate. Leeman-Conley (1990) found that when comparing bank employees who experienced a trauma event, those who were a part of CISM seemed to have fared better than those who did not as evidenced by reduced use of sick leave. In a more recent study, Boscarino, Adams and Figley (2005) looked at people working in New York City at the time of the World Trade Center attacks who were offered crisis intervention services compared to other workers who were not provided any type of services. They found lower rates of issues such as depression and anxiety among those individuals that had been a part of CISM.

While there may be controversy currently surrounding the effectiveness of CISD on its own, it is still widely used and researched. Thus, there is a need for continued discussion of the topic as it relates to the field of counselor education. If this intervention is going to be integrated into the curriculum of counseling students as part of crisis intervention classes, then there is a need to take the critical research into account, as well as the original designed purpose of the intervention as laid out by Mitchell (1983).

Psychological First Aid

Psychological First Aid (PFA) is another intervention method that was developed for disaster survivors through the National Child Traumatic Stress Network (NCTSN) and the National Center for PTSD by a team of researchers and consultants based on previous research

with post-disaster interventions (Hobfoll et al., 2007). PFA is a systemic approach designed to provide support and care for people after a crisis event with a focus on natural disasters (Ruzek et al., 2007).

PFA "focuses on immediate practical support and assistance to protect the victims from further trauma, normalizing the victims reactions, and connecting the victim to family and other support systems" (Talbott, 2009). The goal of PFA is to mitigate the initial distress related to the traumatic event and to improve short and long term functioning. In order to do this, practitioners of PFA implement the following eight specific actions: contact and engagement, safety and comfort, stabilization, information gathering, practical assistance, connection with social supports, information on coping support, and linkage with collaborative services (Ruzek et al., 2007). Unlike other methodology for helping people after a traumatic event, PFA focuses on offering practical interventions and services in order to ensure the safety and immediate needs of those who have experienced the traumatic event. PFA is also unique in that it incorporates a variety of interventions via these eight actions, instead of only a single, specific counseling intervention. Due to this, PFA is utilized as part of an overall disaster intervention plan that is implemented by multiple organizations such as the American Red Cross.

There is not a great deal of evaluation-based research on the effectiveness of PFA (Ruzek et al., 2007). This lack of outcome-based research is also noted after the implementation of PFA in an attempt to measure its effectiveness as a crisis intervention strategy in response to the 9/11 attacks (Pandya, 2013). While the lack of outcome studies are apparent and further research is encouraged, there is reasoning as to why research is difficult to obtain due to the nature of PFA. Since it is a multifaceted systems approach that emphasizes plugging the individual into multiple resources and other services, it is difficult to measure which elements are producing positive

outcomes. According to Fox et al. (2007), proving PFA's effectiveness could affect the implementation process and therefore impact the effectiveness itself. The wide use of PFA, current limited evidence, and a positive view by field experts has provided PFA's viability and that is why it is utilized without supportive research (Fox et al., 2007). Another obvious benefit of using PFA is its adaptability to a variety of mass crisis incidents due to its systems-based approach.

For counselor educators, there is a need for further outcome-based research for PFA to help solidify it as an intervention that should be taught as part of a crisis course. In spite of this, counselors do need to understand PFA-based programs because of their widespread use by multiple national organizations. This includes understanding that applying a PFA systems approach means being a part of a larger team, instead of applying a single intervention.

Trending Intervention

A current early intervention for disaster relief is HOPE Animal-Assisted Crisis Response. Research has demonstrated the effectiveness of Animal-Assisted therapy due to the human-animal bond associated with this intervention. In 2004, a professor and licensed psychologist at California State Polytechnic University piloted a study to see how patients felt about having animals as a part of the therapeutic setting (Fine, 2004). Patients reported feeling more relaxed, comfortable, and open when the animals were present, according to Fine (2004). As a result of this research and similar studies, HOPE AACR was established in 2001 to provide therapeutic services to victims of crises and disasters (HOPE, n.d.).

Since its establishment in 2001, HOPE AACR has comforted victims and witnesses of individual and large-scale emergencies such as school shootings, fires, hurricanes, transportation accidents, and others. Specifically, HOPE AACR teams have provided services to victims and

survivors of Hurricane Katrina in 2005, the Virginia Tech shootings in 2007, super storm Sandy in 2012, and many more (HOPE AACR, n.d.). HOPE AACR teams have worked with a wide range of local agencies, which include schools, fire departments, and law enforcement (HOPE, n.d.). They have also paired up with national response agencies such as the Federal Emergency Management Agency, National Organization for Victim Assistance, American Red Cross, Salvation Army, and National Voluntary Organizations Active in Disaster (HOPE, n.d.).

HOPE AACR is a non-profit 501(c)(3) national organization that utilizes volunteers to respond to crises and disasters. HOPE AACR teams include a handler and dog that are both taught how to respond in stressful and emotional environments; the handler is also trained in first aid/CPR, Incident Command System, and other techniques for emotional first aid (HOPE, n.d.). Besides aiding individuals directly affected by the disaster or event, HOPE AACR also provides support to the first responders (HOPE, n.d.). HOPE teams are able to travel via several modes of transportation to guarantee availability on short notice (HOPE, n.d.). To become a HOPE AACR volunteer team, the human and dog must have experience working in Animal-Assisted Activity or Animal-Assisted Therapy; however, team leaders who work without a dog are able to apply instantly (HOPE, n.d.). All applicants go through a screening to ensure they are suitable for crisis response work (HOPE, n.d.). In some cases, the team is a therapist and dog. In those teams, the therapist uses the theoretical orientation in which they are trained. When the team consists of a handler and dog, they must join with a therapist for the treatment process. In those instances, the therapist takes the lead role and the handler only participates when directing or handling the dog.

With the recent success of HOPE AACR and animal-assisted therapy, it is easy to see why more organizations are utilizing animals as a therapeutic intervention in treatment. Whether this involves individual therapy, group therapy, or crisis response, adding animals to the process

may very well aid the healing process. There are multiple examples of the benefits of animals in most settings, but the literature is scarce when discussing disaster relief. Therefore, further research is necessary.

Because HOPE AACR does not utilize a specific intervention, it is important to recognize the possible increase of effectiveness when implementing animals into the aforementioned interventions, CISD and PFA. As counselor educators, knowing when to include animals and when to avoid the trend is imperative. Further research regarding this intervention is essential to guarantee that the victims of these disasters are receiving the best care possible.

Additional Training

Some counselors may seek out training specific to disaster mental health that goes beyond the skills they acquired in their graduate programs. In those cases, there are several options. According to Shallcross (2012), Dr. Michael Dubi, the president of the International Association of Trauma Professionals (IATP), states that his association offers multiple certifications. These certifications include Certified Clinical Trauma Professional, Certified Expert Trauma Professional, and Certified Master Trauma Professional. The certifications offered by IATP typically involve workshops, online training, and exams (International Association of Trauma Professionals, 2014).

The American Counseling Association (ACA), in partnership with the American Red Cross, also emerged with a new specialty area in DMH. Through the ACA, a counselor can become a Red Cross DMH Volunteer (Disaster Mental Health, 2016). In order to meet the minimum requirements to receive such training, the counselor must be a member of ACA and have a valid practicing counseling license. This can be a hindrance for some counselors, as many do not pursue their license but are willing to provide counseling services to such a population.

Seminars and continuing education credits are also obtainable through PESI Healthcare and Cross Country Education (Shallcross, 2012). Counselors that want to work with children and adolescents have the option of receiving training from the National Child Traumatic Stress Network (Shallcross, 2012). These trainings come in several forms such as online, in-person, at conferences, or by purchasing training products.

It is likely that a disaster may exacerbate symptoms of individuals with pre-existing disorders, which further demonstrates the importance of having DMH and/or PFA training integrated into the counseling curriculum (Graham, 2010). Regardless of the specialty a counselor may want to focus on, training is copious. Counselor educators need to be aware of what they can offer students in their counseling program and what areas may require the student to seek further training or education.

Graduate Program Standards

As indicated earlier, there is an increasing amount of human-generated and natural disasters. It is also likely and expected, that people will respond with short-term stress and anxiety when dealing with these disasters (Graham, 2010). Some individuals will move on with no mental health issues beyond the event, while some will require additional mental health services. With those facts in mind, there is a growing expectation for the counseling profession to be more involved with servicing individuals dealing with disasters. "Howard Smith (2005) ...was one of the early counselors to caution, 'Providing mental health services in a disaster environment requires an additional set of skills that are noticeably lacking in counselor education programs,' (Webber & Mascari, 2009, p. 126). Integration of disaster training throughout various courses in the counseling curriculum and a development of a skills training model specific for

disasters should be incorporated in a counseling program in order for future counselors to be successfully prepared in a disaster environment (Webber & Mascari, 2009).

The Council for Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs (CACREP) is assiduous in maintaining standards that meet the ever-changing needs of our society (D'Andrea & Liu, 2009). CACREP (2016) implemented standards that apply to all entrylevel and doctoral-level programs which require disaster and crisis training throughout the counseling curriculum, specifically in the Human Growth and Development area, as well as in the Counseling and Helping Relationship area. For all CACREP accredited programs, the following must be covered and documented within the curriculum: "effects of crisis, disasters, and trauma on diverse individuals across the lifespan" (CACREP, 2016 Section II, Standard F, 3.g); and crisis intervention, trauma-informed, and community-based strategies, such as Psychological First Aid" (CACREP, 2016, Section II, Standard F, 5.m). Most specialty areas of the CACREP (2016) standards include: counselors' roles and responsibilities as members of an interdisciplinary emergency management response team during a local, regional, or national crisis, disaster or other trauma-causing event; effects of crises, disasters, and other traumacausing events on persons of all ages; crisis intervention and suicide prevention models, including the use of psychological first aid strategies; differentiates between diagnosis and developmentally appropriate reactions during crises, disasters, and other trauma-causing events; and understands the operation of the school emergency management plan and the roles and responsibilities of the school counselor during crises, disasters, and other trauma-causing events. CACREP has also identified specific disaster training standards for the core areas in counseling and it is incumbent of the institution of learning to equip counselors in training with the adequate skills to serve in disaster or trauma environments. Institutions should be obligated to incorporate

disaster standards into course assignments, have counselors-in-training become familiar with these standards and expectations of the profession, as well as requiring students to demonstrate competence (D'Andrea & Liu, 2009).

According to Minton (2010), many counselors view crisis as a primary concern and feel as if they are not prepared to adequately handle clients in crisis or disaster situations. The literature regarding preparation for crises, particularly disasters, is minimal when looking at counselor education; however, there is a great deal of literature regarding disaster/crisis intervention for paraprofessionals (Minton, 2010). As a counselor, one is ethically bound to operate within his or her scope of expertise. If counselors feel inadequately trained for disaster situations, they cannot ethically practice or be of assistance to that particular population. With the 2016 CACREP standards including terms such as: emergency, trauma, disaster, and psychological first aid, it is expected that counselors-in-training should feel knowledgeable and equipped to serve their population of focus - whether it be community, clinical, school, higher education, etc. (Minton, 2010). However, it is not evident that this practice is being followed.

Implications for Future Research

Due to the paucity of research on disaster counseling education for counselor educators and the implementation of such training, understanding what is currently being taught and how training is being implemented is imperative. Future research is recommended to focus on several components in order to address these concerns. The first being what content is being taught to counselors in both education programs and independent trainings. This would include examining how PFA and CISD are presented, as well as if alternative methods such as HOPE are introduced. As indicated by the literature, these treatment modalities may not be explained correctly or at all. It would also be beneficial to address the learning outcomes of those that

participate in such trainings, as there does not appear to be clear evidence in the literature to support a particular training modality.

The recommendation is to conduct an exploratory content analysis of crisis courses and curriculum from universities in the United States that currently hold CACREP accredited counseling programs at the masters level. It is recommended that the primary focus of the content analysis be to examine whether or not programs require a crisis course, if there is comprehensive content on disaster, and what methods are being taught regarding disaster. The focus of the content analysis is recommended to be derived from keywords and terms found in the review of literature and standards, including terms such as: crisis, emergency, trauma, disaster, disaster mental health, critical incident stress debriefing, psychological first aid, and crisis training. This would provide a better overall understanding of the type of content and how it is being presented by counselor educators.

Conclusion

It is well established through historical events that DMH is an essential part of our society's survival; therefore, inclusion of disaster training is vital for counselor education programs. Current research leaves much to be desired about the effectiveness of leading interventions (CISD, PFA, & HOPE-AACR) and there is an obvious need for continued research to determine the best evidence based practices that should be utilized. In spite of the uncertainty of the effectiveness of these interventions, it is still necessary for counselors-in-training to receive education on the current intervention protocols that are used in a disaster to be prepared for such an event. In fact, CACREP requires that training on this content be provided in their accredited masters level counseling programs. However, it is still unclear what is actually being

taught in the classroom and if what is being taught adequately prepares counselors to feel competent in providing DMH intervention services.

All in all, to remedy the issue of the unknown DMH academic training occurring in programs, the authors propose a research study to conduct an exploratory content analysis of crisis courses and curriculums from regionally accredited universities in the southeastern United States that currently hold CACREP accreditation at the masters level. The main focus is to determine what is being taught, if that matches the current CACREP requirements and current research in DMH, and if that leads to counselors feeling competent to provide such interventions during a disaster event. There continues to be a growing concern regarding the level of preparedness of future counselors' ability to help society survive when disaster strikes.

References

- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (4th ed., text rev.). Washington, DC: Author.
- Boscarino, J. A., Adams, R. E., & Figley, C. R. (2005). A Prospective Cohort Study of the Effectiveness of Employer-Sponsored Crisis Interventions after a Major Disaster. *International Journal of Emergency Mental Health*, 7(1), 9–22.
- Council for Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs [CACREP]. (2016).

 2016 standards for accreditation. Alexandria, VA: Author.
- D'Andrea, L. M., & Liu, L. (2009, March). *The CACREP standards: How much do students know?* Paper presented at the American Counseling Association Annual Conference and Exposition, Charlotte, NC.
- Disaster Mental Health. (2016). Retrieved from http://www.counseling.org/knowledgecenter/trauma-disaster
- Eränen, L., & Liebkind, K. (1993). Coping with disaster: The helping behavior of communities and individuals. In J. P. Wilson, B. Raphael (Eds.), *International handbook of traumatic stress syndromes* (pp. 957-964). New York, NY, US: Plenum Press. doi:10.1007/978-1-4615-2820-3_81
- Everly, G. S., Jr., & Mitchell, J. T. (1997). *Critical incident stress management (CISM): A new* era and standard of care in crisis intervention. Ellicott City, MD: Chevron
- Everly Jr, G. S., Flannery Jr, R. B., & Mitchell, J. T. (2000). Critical incident stress management (CISM): A review of the literature. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *5*(1), 23-40.

- Fine, A. H. (2004). The AAT Rx for youth: Bridging research with clinical insight. Paper presented at the Can Animals Help Humans Heal? Animal-Assisted Interventions in Adolescent Mental Health Conference in Philadelphia, PA.
- Fox, J. H., Burkle, F. M., Bass, J., Pia, F. A., Epstein, J. L., & Markenson, D. (2012). The effectiveness of psychological first aid as a disaster intervention tool: research analysis of peer-reviewed literature from 1990-2010. *Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness*, 6(03), 247-252. doi: 10.1001/dmp.2012.39
- Graham, L. B. (2010). Implementing CACREP disaster/crisis standards for counseling students.

 Retrieved from: http://counselingoutfitters.com/vistas/vistas10/Article_90.pdf
- Green, B. L. (1991). Evaluating the effects of disasters. *Psychological Assessment: A Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 3(4), 538-546. doi:10.1037/1040-3590.3.4.538
- Halpern, J., & Tramontin, M. (2007). *Disaster mental health: Theory and practice*. Belmont, CA: Thomson Higher Education.
- Hillman, J. L. (2002). *Crisis intervention and trauma: New approaches to evidence-based practice.* New York: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers.
- Hobfoll, S. E., Watson, P., Bell, C. C., Bryant, R. A., Brymer, M. J., Friedman, M. J., . . . Ursano, R. J. (2007). Five essential elements of immediate and mid-term mass trauma intervention: Empirical evidence. *Psychiatry: Interpersonal And Biological Processes*, 70(4), 283-315.
- HOPE Animal-Assisted Crisis Response. (n.d.). Our history. [Brochure]. Eugene, OR: Author.
- HOPE Animal-Assisted Crisis Response. (n.d.). Service history. Retrieved from http://hopeaacr.org/service-history/

- International Association of Trauma Professionals. (2014). *Certification*. Retrieved from http://traumapro.net/certification/
- Leeman-Conley, M. (1990). After a violent robbery. Criminology Australia, 1(4), 4-6.
- Miller, J. (2003). Critical incident debriefing and social work: Expanding the frame. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 30 (2), 7-25.
- Minton, C. B. (2010). The Status of Crisis Preparation in Counselor Education: A National Study and Content Analysis. *Journal of Professional Counseling: Practice, Theory & Research*, 38(2), 5-17.
- Mitchell, J. T. (1983). When disaster strikes . . . the critical incident stress debriefing process.

 **Journal of Emergency Services*, 8, 36–39.
- Mitchell, J. T. (2004). A response to the Devilly and Cotton article, "Psychological Debriefing and the Workplace...". *Australian Psychologist*, *39*(1), 24-28.
- Myers, D., & Wee, D. F. (2005). Disaster mental health services. New York: Routledge.
- Pandya, A. (2013). A review and retrospective analysis of mental health services provided after the September 11 attacks. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 58(3), 128-34.
- Paterson, H. M., Whittle, K., & Kemp, R. I. (2014). Detrimental Effects of Post-Incident

 Debriefing on Memory and Psychological Responses. *Journal of Police and Criminal Psychology*, 1-11.
- Pope, A. L., & Marsh, A. (In progress). Crisis management and disaster relief: Danger and opportunity. In J. S. Young & C. S. Cashwell (Eds.), *Clinical Mental Health Counseling: Elements of Effective Practice*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Richards, D. (2001). A field study of critical incident stress debriefing versus critical incident stress management. *Journal of Mental Health*, 10(3), 351-362.

- Robinson, R. (2004). Counterbalancing misrepresentations of critical incident stress debriefing and critical incident stress management. *Australian Psychologist*, 39(1), 29-34.
- Ruzek, J. I., Brymer, M. J., Jacobs, A. K., Layne, C. M., Vernberg, E. M., & Watson, P. J. (2007). Psychological first aid. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*, 29, 17-49.
- Shallcross, L. (2012). A calming presence. *Counseling Today*. Retrieved from http://ct.counseling.org/2012/02/a-calming-presence/
- Talbott, W. R. (2009). Early mental health interventions following disasters: What is the standard of practice? *Texas Public Health Journal*, *61* (2), 40-41.
- Webber, J. M., & Mascari, J. B. (2009). Critical issues in implementing the new CACREP standards for disaster, trauma, and crisis counseling. In G. R. Walz, J.C. Bleuer, & R. K. Yep (Eds.), *Compelling counseling interventions: VISTAS 2009* (pp. 125-138). Alexandria, VA: American Counseling Association.
- Wei, Y., Szumilas, M., & Kutcher, S. (2010). Effectiveness on mental health of psychological debriefing for crisis intervention in schools. *Educational Psychology Review*, 22(3), 339-347.

Building Resiliency in Counselors in Training for Counselors Educators

Yulanda Tyre

Maranda Griffin and

Robyn Trippany Simmons

Walden University

Author Note

Correspondence concerning this article should be addressed to Dr. Yulanda Tyre, Student Affairs, Auburn University Montgomery, Taylor Center – Suite 163, Montgomery, AL 36117. E-mail: ytyre@aum.edu; Phone: 334-244-3430.

Abstract

Professional counselors are encountering clients who are experiencing severe and pervasive crisis and trauma. Occupational hazards such as compassion fatigue, burnout, and vicarious trauma are common to the counseling profession. Those entering the profession, counselors-intraining, require resilience to protect their well-being, aid wellness and ensure professional fitness. The purpose of this article is to provide techniques for building resilience in counselors-in-training for counselor educators.

Keywords: resilience, problematic behavior, compassion fatigue, burnout, vicarious trauma

Building Resiliency in Counselors in Training for Counselors Educators

Counselors are at risk of burnout throughout their career. Counselors are at an increased risk of burnout if they treat clients experiencing crisis, trauma or trauma exposure (Dupre, Echterling, Meixner, Anderson & Kielty, 2014; Ling, Hunter & Maple, 2014). Counselors are working with clients who are experiencing more severe and pervasive crisis than in years past (Eiser, 2011). Current news stories of school shootings, natural disasters, bombings, police brutality, police shootings, angry drivers, enraged and politically charged communities are an indication of the critical events experienced by potential clients (Datz, 2015; Murphy, 2015; Plumer, 2013). These experiences also have a bearing on counselors. Treatment of clients in crisis has had an impact on the professional and personal lives of counselors (Lambert & Lawson, 2013).

Crisis, as defined by the American Psychological Association (APA; 2016), is a client's inability to face or cope with specific changes (i.e., developmental, situational and existential) and experiences that exceed the individual's problem-solving skills or resources. This definition centers on the client's response to an experience. McAdams and Keener (2008) referred to the escalation of crisis treatment by counselors in the field as an occupational hazard. Given the potential for occupational hazard, it is evident that counselor education programs should promote the need for *resiliency* as a part of self-care and wellness.

Resiliency has been defined as the ability to cope in the face of adversity (Lambert & Lawson, 2013). The American Psychological Association (2016) defined resiliency as "the process of adapting well in the face of adversity, trauma, tragedy, threats, or even significant sources of stress — such as family and relationship problems, serious health problems, or workplace and financial stressors" (para 1). APA suggested resiliency is "bouncing back from

difficult experiences" (para 1). Resiliency as a protective factor may help insulate students and practitioners against burnout (Grant & Kinman, 2012). Resiliency also serves to help protect well-being, aid in wellness (Lambert & Lawson, 2012), and may help ensure professional fitness that contributes to the ability to provide quality care.

Resiliency can be learned and developed (Meyer, Licklider, & Wiersema, 2008). Meyer, Licklider, and Wiersema (2008) found in their study of resiliency in first-semester freshman the potential to develop resiliency through resiliency development education. While resiliency is an important personal attribute (Taplin, 2011), little emphasis exists on developing and promoting this attribute as a component of counselor preparation programs and within the field, in general. This article will explore the need for resiliency training in counselor education programs, review American Counseling Association (ACA) ethical codes and the Council for Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs (CACREP) standards that address counselor wellness. Further, this article will identify techniques for building resilience in counselors-intraining (CITs) for counselor educators.

The Need for Resiliency Training

Resilience is an essential skill set for CITs (Thompson, Frick, & Trice-Black, 2011), social work practitioners (Grant & Kinman, 2012), psychologists (Newman, 2003), and psychiatrists (Greenhill, Fielke, Richards, Walker, & Walters, 2015). Specifically, counselors providing crisis response and having prolonged exposure to secondary trauma are "doubly taxed emotionally and physically" (Lambert & Lawson, 2013, p. 261). The impact of this secondary trauma can result in burnout and compassion fatigue (Figley, 1995) or vicarious traumatization (McCann & Pearlman, 1990). The risks increase for counselors who work with large caseloads

and who serve clients with chronic histories of trauma. Therefore, those working towards these professions, such as CITs should be made aware of, educated on, and supported in the development of resilience.

Counselors overtaken by the impact of frequent and pervasive client crisis can experience a variety of maladaptive behaviors themselves such as compassion fatigue. Figley (1995) referred to compassion fatigue as emotional and physical exhaustion resulting from prolonged empathic exposure to the pain of others. Other terms such as vicarious trauma and secondary traumatic stress have been used to describe symptoms similar to those of compassion fatigue. The American Counseling Association (2011) provided this definition of vicarious trauma: "the emotional residue of exposure that counselors have from working with people as they are hearing their trauma stories and become witnesses to the pain, fear, and terror that trauma survivors have endured" (p. 1). Secondary traumatic stress is often used interchangeably with vicarious trauma to demonstrate the impact of exposure counselors have to trauma experiences.

Compassion fatigue, secondary traumatic stress, and vicarious traumatization are all forms of indirect trauma that can be caused by hearing or recalling a client's traumatic experience. Counselors may also experience burnout, which entails the emotional, physical and psychological exhaustion that leaves them unable to provide ethical and competent services (Lambert & Lawson, 2013). A counselor addressing a client in crisis is required to ensure the safety of everyone involved. Meeting this challenge could include the ethical management and assessment of the situation, the client, and themselves simultaneously. Counselors serving clients in crisis may also experience various emotions themselves, including anger, shock, confusion, demoralization, and traumatic reactions (Dupre, et al., 2014). These emotions may have an impact on the counselor's judgment of best response to the needs of the client (Pearlman

& Saakvitne, 1995; Saakvitne & Pearlamn, 1996). Thus, it is important that counselor education training supports CITs in exploration and education on adaptive behaviors in addressing client crisis so that the best and most ethical care is delivered.

While compassion fatigue, secondary traumatic stress, vicarious trauma, and burnout all have the potential to negatively impact the therapeutic process and its outcomes, alternative adaptive responses to these maladaptive behaviors exist. Focusing solely on the negative responses of counselors working with clients in crisis provides an unbalanced and flawed perspective of how counselors can emotionally address these concerns. Counselors can engage in a spectrum of feelings and emotions to include positive personal and professional outcomes (Ling, Hunter & Maple, 2014).

Lambert and Lawson (2013) suggested that both adaptive and maladaptive responses can coexist. An example of an adaptive response is compassion satisfaction, the perceived efficacy of counselors from their work (Lambert & Lawson, 2013). A second consideration of an adaptive response is the existence of post-traumatic growth, which is defined "significant positive psychological change" that occurs as an outcome of an individual experiencing trauma (Cohen & Collens, 2013, p. 571). Adaptive responses highlight the counselor's skills, strengths, and abilities to positively address crisis and adversity in a way that fosters transformational development to promote fulfillment, well-being, and thriving. This shift in thinking, at times referred to as positive psychology, detracts from a singular view of the worst to attending to the positive that can occur from the situation.

Ethical and Accreditation Standards

The American Counseling Association (ACA) Code of Ethics does not directly reference the concept of resilience. However, a counselor's professional responsibilities include self-care. More specifically, the code requires counselors to "engage in self-care activities to maintain and promote their own emotional, physical, mental, and spiritual well-being to best meet their professional responsibilities" (ACA, 2014, p. 8). Adherence to this mandate helps to ensure fitness and contributes to alleviating the potential for impairment.

CACREP accreditation standards reference resilience specific to curriculum instruction (CACREP, 2016). Wellness is evident in the counseling curriculum for the human growth and development course as well as a component of specialty areas for addiction counseling and marriage, couple, and family. Further, CACREP accreditation standards note the importance of including self-care specific to the counselor role in the professional counseling orientation and ethical practice curriculum requirement (CACREP, 2016). Professional fitness deals with self-awareness and emotional stability (CACREP, 2016) and often correlates with student retention considerations and policies that address appropriateness for the profession.

Professional Dispositions and Problematic Behaviors

The ACA Code of Ethics (2014) defines impairment as "a significantly diminished capacity to perform professional functions" (p. 20). Many terms are used to describe impairment, namely, problematic behavior. Wilkerson (2006) defined problematic behavior as "those behaviors, attitudes, or characteristics that need to be the focus of attention and change but are not considered excessive or inappropriate" (p. 211). These behaviors may, in fact, be important components of the learning experience (Wilkerson, 2006). Problematic behaviors may

manifest as a result of limited or weakened resilience and lend themselves to professional disposition concerns. Professional dispositions are an integral part of matriculation within counseling programs. CACREP standards require identification and assessment of these dispositions throughout program enrollment (CACREP, 2016). This assessment of problematic behaviors could result in the identification of a CITs inability to perform professional functions as delineated by the ACA Code of Ethics.

Need for Awareness

Counselors-in-training, as new helping professionals, often fail to consider the importance of taking care of themselves particularly in situations that lead to professional disposition concerns. Self-care, an imperative that could be taught as an intentional and continuous practice of the profession as suggested in the ACA standards. The therapeutic relationship is foundational to the therapeutic process. The therapeutic process can only be as healthy as the facilitator, making it important for CITs to gain competence in this area. Venar, Voss, and Pitcher-Heft (2007) contended that the counselor's behaviors in therapy have just as much impact on the development and maintenance of the therapeutic relationship as the use of words. Counselors who encourage, model well-being, and demonstrate a wellness balance to clients can have an enhanced therapeutic relationship that can lead to enhanced outcomes.

Counselor education programs additionally challenge students to explore values and personal and professional identities Counselors-in-training are often enrolled in courses, working a full-time job, and managing families simultaneous to learning life impacting skills and theory (Shallcross, 2009). Juggling multiple responsibilities while meeting the demands of curriculum

that requires one to be introspective can be stressful, promote distress, and burnout prior to the end of the program increasing the likelihood of problematic behavior and dropout.

Building Resiliency

Given that CACREP standards and ACA ethical standards address the importance of counselor self-care, it is evident that counselor resilience should be addressed with CITs. The impact of limited resilience on the therapeutic relationship indicates that program matriculation, disposition, and professional fitness hinges on developing resiliency and adaptive coping skills. Intentional building of these coping skills and fostering resilience is necessary to insulate CITs against the risks of working with clients in crisis. Many techniques support the development of resilience and can serve as a protective factor for the occupational hazards that come with the profession.

Assessment

One of the many techniques that support the development of resilience is placing an emphasis on its importance at the onset of application and admissions processes for counselor education programs (Grant & Kinman, 2012). As identification of resilience is consistent with CACREP requirements regarding professional dispositions, assessment at program entry would aid gatekeeping and help with identification of students with resilience which might minimize issues of student concern, development, and impairment early on. The Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (Connor & Davidson, 2003) and the Scale of Protective Factors (Ponce-Garcia, Madewell & Kennison, 2015) can be used at program entry to assess for resilience. Students can engage in ongoing assessment throughout their training program. For example, during courses that deal specifically with crisis and trauma, students can complete self-assessments, such as TSI

Life Event Scale (Pearlman, 1996) to identify sources of their trauma that can be activated when being exposed to other's trauma. During field experience, students can complete self-assessments, such as the Compassion Fatigue Self-Test (Figley, 1996) to determine if their work with clients is having a negative impact.

Education

Resilience has been identified as an internal factor that contributes to educational success (Clark, Brooks, Lee, Daley, Crawford & Maxis, 2006). While the CACREP standards include resilience as a content area within the human growth and development course the opportunity to educate on the topic is not resolved to this one course. Educating CITs on the reality of the client issues they will address in clinical practice and the magnitude these issues can have should better prepare them for how to address the resulting concerns (Merriman, 2015).

Education on the experiences encountered in clinical practice involves intentional discussions that can occur throughout the program yet are most critical in the clinical courses such as techniques/facilitation skills and group, as well as during practicum and internship. Discussions around self-care and the quality of self-care are important as they act as a protective factor that can enhance resilience (Merriman, 2015). Trippany, Kress, and Wilcoxon (2004) discussed the benefits of education and training in the reduction of vicarious traumatization of counselors who work with traumatized clients. Incorporating such information in the counselor education curriculum through discussions, assignments, and experiential opportunities that require CITs to identify areas requiring self-care can result in the development of a personal self-care plan. Moreover, these discussions, assignments, and activities would satisfy ethical responsibilities that require one to "engage in self-care activities" (ACA, 2014, p. 8).

Consequently, this could enhance capacity and reduce the potential for burnout, compassion fatigue, and impairment which help "to maintain and promote their own emotional, physical, mental, and spiritual well-being to best meet their professional responsibilities" (ACA, 2014, p. 8).

Ongoing Self-Assessment

Reflection and self-assessment are critical to the counseling profession. Further, to develop and increase resilience, CITs and counselors need to ensure they self-assess and self-examine) for the needs regarding and presence of resilience (Lambert & Lawson, 2013.

Counselors that are self-aware are at reduced risk for compassion fatigue (Merriman, 2015).

To increase self-awareness, one must monitor self and be a reflective practitioner. Young (2013) wrote "being a reflective practitioner means that you make a commitment to personal awareness" (p.3). Incorporating this assessment process into training and educational platforms is necessary. A number of helpful tools are available for CITs to use to assess wellness and/or personal risk. These tools include the Professional Quality of Life Scale (ProQOL) (Stamm, 2009) and the Self-Care Assessment Worksheet (Saakvitne & Pearlman, 1996). Use of Socratic questioning, journaling, and participation in groups can help foster reflection and also lend themselves to identifying resilience. Such opportunities allow emphasis to be on "processing rather than dealing with content" (Shallcross, 2010, "Finding the time," para 1) which is essential to foundational counseling skills that CITs will employ with their clients.

Wellbeing Days

Grant and Kinman (2012) discussed the use of *Wellbeing Days* to enhance resilience.

These Wellbeing Days include subject specific workshops which focus on resilience, self-care,

well-being, performance, and implementing techniques that develop resilience. The authors suggested topics such as "mindfulness, thinking skills (Cognitive Behavioral Techniques), utilizing supervision for reflective practitioner, peer coaching to enhance social support and promote wellbeing, and self-awareness and action planning" (Grant & Kinman, 2012, p. 612).

Support Services

Self-assessment, self-examination, and formal identification of problematic behaviors may help institutions and programs more effectively configure support services and programs to foster and promote resilience. Support programs intended to maximize resiliency and the social and developmental aspects of students may need to be employed. For example, promotion of the university counseling center and its programs and services provide opportunity to address concerns that may impact resilience and allow for identification of protective factors to insulate concerns. For universities or programs that do not have a counseling center, formal agreements with a provider(s) that can offer student assistance to address behavioral health and work-life balance concerns allow for the ability to manage challenges better and provide support. Equally, faculty and staff can provide a positive influence on students creating a sense of community that encourages resilience and impacts counselor identity, wellness, and self-care. Utilization data on students who access such services and programs coupled with evaluation can be used to demonstrate the effectiveness of reducing stress, compassion fatigue, problematic behavior, burnout, and retention.

Supervision

Counselor educators have a unique opportunity through supervision to educate, coach, and model resiliency factors to CITs. A study conducted by Thompson, et al., (2011) reported

that a lack of training and instruction occurs during the practicum and internship experience for CITs with regard to personal wellness and prevention practices that may prevent burnout and support resilience. Practicum and internship students are at a higher risk for burnout and need for protective factors as their newness to the field of practice and eager disposition can make them susceptible to taking on unrealistic challenges and roles that accompany clients. Further, CITs can be unaware of cues that signal the onset of maladaptive behaviors. The emotional demands of clients coupled with the CITs simultaneous personal development in the profession can be taxing. These combined factors make supervision ideal for the implementation of skills that support resilient behaviors (Thompson, Frick & Trice-Black, 2011).

The inexperience of CITs can limit the ability to identify and balance personal needs. The supervision process provides a protective learning environment that can allow for honesty, reflection, and feedback that can be limited in the classroom setting (Thompson, Frick & Trice-Black, 2011). The supervisory process allows counselor educators to engage in a true gatekeeping process by providing unique skill sets to students, such as teaching them to say no to demands that exceed their skill and readiness and by modeling hardiness behaviors that promote wellness and lead to resiliency. Supervisors can also help students examine and explore unrealistic self-worth perspectives tied to the work of helping clients and develop realistic measures of success. Counselor educators have the opportunity to make an impression on CITs in the area of promoting wellness that can sustain throughout their career.

Silent Sitting

Silent sitting is a strategy used in the Sathya Sai Education in Human Values (SSEHV) model. Silent sitting is considered a relaxation exercise that aims to quiet the mind and reduce

stress. The SSEHV model focuses on education with specific goals that tap into resilience by addressing the conscious (i.e., mind), subconscious (i.e., body), and the superconscious (i.e., spirit; Taplin, 2011). Taplin (2011) encouraged multiple ways silent sitting be infused into the classroom. For example, through "concentration exercises, listening to silence, listening to breathing, listening to suitable music, listening to a visualization" (Taplin, 2011, p. 80). Use of these techniques can be included at any point within a class, during stressful times, and as a means for reflection. CITs can model these techniques in mock counseling sessions and utilize them during practicum and internship as appropriate to the clinical situation that might require a focus on well-being and cultivate resilience.

Implications for future research

To ensure professional fitness and wellness, CITs and counselors should practice intentionality with regard to self-care. Self-care is particularly critical in light of exposure to vicarious trauma (Lambert & Lawson, 2013). Greater emphasis on self-care and wellness during the academic preparation of CITs and to those within the profession to enhance resilience is warranted. Professional organizations can use this information to encourage or require a designated number of continuing education hours. Continuing education could contribute to protecting clients from harm and ensure services align with ethical requirements. Additional research around the efficacy for silent sitting in higher education programs specific to counselors and those in helping professions could be of benefit.

An additional consideration for counselor educators and CITs is related to the impact of resilience factors on retention in counselor education programs. While studies have been conducted in the area of retention and higher education (Tinto & Pusser, 2006), limited research

has been completed specifically in the area of resilience. Prior studies in the area of retention and higher education have focused on factors related to program expectations, feedback and perceived support of students by the school. The noted factors focus on things external to the student. However, an opportunity exists to evaluate deeper the explanation indicating what motivates students to stay engaged and enrolled under stressful circumstances. These efforts would help in ensuring CITs are prepared to be ethical in their responsibilities, effective in their work with clients, and could reduce potential for impairment, burnout and compassion fatigue.

Conclusion

With an influx of clients presenting with severe and pervasive crisis, resilience is a critical skill set for counselors to navigate these career challenges with success. The potential for burnout, compassion fatigue, and vicarious traumatization are occupational risks associated with counselors. Therefore, CITs must intentionally commit to attending to their self-care and wellness. The techniques presented in this article offer opportunities to build upon existing platforms within counselor education programs that address adaptive strengths and coping. Consistent with a counseling approach, a strengths-based approach allows CITs to strengthen their resilience while learning valuable techniques they can utilize in practicum, internship, and in their career. Intention to establishing, insulating, and fostering resilience can reduce the potential for problematic behavior and minimize the risk of ethical concern.

References

- American Counseling Association (2014). Code of ethics. Alexandria, VA: Author.
- American Counseling Association (2011). Fact sheet #9: Vicarious trauma. Retrieved from https://www.counseling.org/docs/trauma-disaster/fact-sheet-9---vicarious-trauma.pdf?sfvrsn=2.
- American Psychological Association (2016). The road to resilience. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/helpcenter/road-resilience.aspx.
- Clark, M. A., Brooks, M., Lee, S.M., Daley, L.P., Crawford, Y., & Maxis, S. (2007). Factors influencing the educational success of minority pre-service educators. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice*, 8 (1), 121-135.
- Cohen, K., & Collens, P. (2013). The impact of trauma work on trauma workers. A metasynthesis on vicarious trauma and vicarious posttraumatic growth. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 5,* 570–580.
- Connor, K.M. & Davidson, J.R.T. (2003). Development of a new resilience scale: The Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC). Depress. *Anxiety*, *18*: 76–82. doi:10.1002/da.10113
- Counsel for Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs (2016). 2016

 CACREP standards. Alexandria, VA: Author.

- Datz, T. (2015). Mass public shootings increasing in U.S. Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health. Retrieved from https://www.hsph.harvard.edu/news/features/mass-public-shootings-increasing-in-us/
- Dupre, M., Echterling, L.G., Meixner, C., Anderson, R., & Kielty, M (2014). Supervision experiences of professional counselors providing crisis counseling. *Counselor Education and Supervision*, 53 (2), 82-96.
- Eiser, A. (2011). The crisis on campus. *Monitor on Psychology*, 42 (8), 18.
- Figley, C.R. (1995). Compassion fatigue: Coping with secondary traumatic stress disorder in those who treat the traumatized. Bristol, PA: Brunner/Mazel.
- Figley, C.R. (1996). Psychometric review of the Compassion Fatigue Self-Test. In B.H. Stamm (Ed.). *Measurement of stress, trauma, and adaptation*. Lutherville, MD. Sidran Press.
- Grant, L. & Kinman, G. (2012). Enhancing wellbeing in Social Work students: Building resilience in the next generation. *Social Work Education*, *31* (5), 605-621.
- Greenhill, J., Fielke, K. R., Richards, J. N., Walker, L.J., & Walters, L. K. (2015). Towards an understanding of medical student resilience in longitudinal integrated clerkships. *BMC Medical Education*, *15* (1), 137-146.
- Lambert, S.F. & Lawson, G. (2013). Resilience of professional counselors following hurricanes Katrina and Rita. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 9, 261-268.
- Ling, J., Hunter, S., & Maple, M. (2014). Navigating the challenges of trauma counseling:

 How counsellors thrive and sustain their engagement. *Australian Social Work*, 67 (2), 297-310.

- McAdams, C. R., & Keener, H. J. (2008). Preparation, action, recovery: A conceptual framework for counselor preparation and response in client crises. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 86, 388–398.
- McCann, I. L., & Pearlman, L. A. (1990). Vicarious traumatization: A framework for understanding the psychological effects of working with victims. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, *3*(1), 131-149.
- Merriman, J. (2015). Enhancing counselor supervision through compassion fatigue education. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 93, 370-378.
- Meyer, K.M, Licklider, B.L., & Wiersema, J.A. (2008). The impact of stories: Experiences of post-secondary students in resiliency development education. *Journal of Ethnographic & Qualitative Research*, *3*, 37-47.
- Murphy, S. (2015). Deadly shootings by police show sharp increase in Oklahoma. *AP Regional State Report Oklahoma*,
- Newman, R. (2003). Resilience and psychology: A healthy relationship. *Monitor on Psychology*, 34 (7), 26.
- Pearlman, L.A. & Saakvitne, K.W. (1995). Treating therapists with vicarious traumatization and secondary traumatic stress disorders. In C.R. Figley (Ed.), *Compassion fatigue: Coping with secondary traumatic stress disorders in those who treat the traumatized* (pp. 150-177). Bristol, PA: Brunner/Mazel.

- Pearlman, L.A. (1996). Psychometric review of the TSI Life Event Questionnaire (LEG). In B.H. Stamm (Ed.). *Measurement of stress, trauma, and adaptation*. Lutherville, MD. Sidran Press.
- Plumer, B. (2013). *Global warming increases the frequency and severity of natural disasters*. Gale, Cengage Learning.
- Ponce-Garcia, E., Madewell, A.N., & Kennison, S.M. (2015) The development of the scale of protective factors: Resilience in a violent trauma sample. *Violence and Victims*, *30* (5), 735-755.
- Saakvitne, K.W. & Pearlman, L.A. (1996). *Transforming the pain: A workbook on vicarious traumatization*. New York: Norton.
- Shallcross, L. (2009). Regaining life balance. *Counseling Today*. Retrieved from http://ct.counseling.org/2009/06/regaining-life-balance/
- Shallcross, L. (2010). Ramping up resiliency. Counseling Today, 44-47.
- Stamm, B.H. (2009). Professional quality of life scale (ProQOL 5). Retrieved from http://www.proqol.org/uploads/ProQOL_5_English_Self-Score_3-2012.pdf.
- Taplin, M. (2011). Silent sitting: A cross-curricular tool to promote resilience. *International Journal of Children's Spirituality*, 16 (2), 75-96.
- Tinto, V., & Pusser, B. (2006). *Moving from theory to action: Building a model of institutional action for student success*. Washington, DC: National Postsecondary Education Cooperative.

- Thompson, E. H., Frick, M.H., & Trice-Black, S. (2011). Counselors-in-training perceptions of supervision practices related to self-care and burnout. *The Professional Counselor*, 1 (3), 152-162.
- Trippany, R. L., Kress, V. W., & Wilcoxon, S. A. (2004). Preventing vicarious trauma: What counselor should know when working with trauma survivors. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 82, 31-37.
- Young, M.E. (2013). Learning the art of helping. Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Wilkerson, K. (2006). Impaired students: Applying the therapeutic process model to graduate training programs. *Counselor Education & Supervision*, 45, 207–217.

Nontraditional Students in Counselor Education: Informing Recruitment and Retention

Linda Ouellette and

Sandra Pollock

Troy University

Author Note

Correspondence concerning this article should be addressed to Dr. Linda Ouellette, 220 E Central Parkway Suite 1020, Altamonte Springs, FL 32701. E-mail: louellette@troy.edu; Phone: 407-830-2540.

Abstract

As the population in the United States becomes increasingly diverse, the demographics of mental health counselors will need to reflect their clients' diversity. It is important that counselor educators understand how to attract, and retain, minority and nontraditional students. Although minority and nontraditional students' experiences have been investigated in a range of disciplines and academic levels, counselor education research has only focused on the experiences of specific demographics within this population. To increase counselor knowledge, this review of the research investigates the experiences and studies of nontraditional undergraduate and graduate college students. Recommendations are presented for recruitment and retention of diverse counselor education students. Pedagogical changes are discussed. Implications for further research are provided.

Keywords: nontraditional students, counselor education, mental health counseling, diversity

As the United States population becomes more diverse and the need for multicultural mental health counselors increases, the recruitment and retention of nontraditional students is essential to create a counseling profession that reflects clients' diversity. Currently, of the 802,000 counselors identified in the 2015 Labor Force Statistics (U.S. Department of Labor, 2015), 71.4% are women, 18.4% are Black or African-American, 2.5% are Asian, and 9.5% are

Nontraditional Students in Counselor Education: Informing Recruitment and Retention

educators must understand this student population and the factors that influence their interest in

Hispanic or Latino. To improve recruitment and retention of nontraditional students, counselor

entering the counseling profession and successfully completing counselor education programs.

Definition of Traditional Versus Non-traditional Students

The definition of traditional students varies across researchers, with Brock (2010, p. 113) identifying undergraduate traditional students as "the high school graduate who enrolls full-time immediately after finishing high school, relies on parents for financial support, and either does not work during the school year or works only part-time." While the Department of Education defined highly nontraditional students as 20 years old or older, working, or raising children, researchers consider nontraditional students to be those who are older than 24, with dependents, financially independent, attending college part time, the first in the family to attend college, students of color, students with disabilities, and from a disadvantaged socioeconomic status (Bundy & Smith, 2004).

Current Trends in Nontraditional Student Higher Education Achievement

Substantial gaps in educational progress still exist between the groups that make up the nontraditional student population and traditional students. Although higher numbers of ethnic minorities enroll in college, their graduation rates are lower (Kena et al., 2015). "Access to

higher education has increased substantially, although some racial and ethnic groups remain underrepresented. But success in college—as measured by persistence and degree attainment—has not improved at all" (Brock, 2010, p.110). The population of students graduating in higher education is still not reflective of the US population (Kena et al., 2015). In 2013, 25-29 year old graduates of bachelor's or higher degree programs were mostly women, 37% versus 30% for men. This was true for women among Whites (44% to 37%), Blacks (19% to 17%), Hispanics (19% to 13%), Asians (64% to 55%), American Indian/Alaskan Native (16% to less than 1%), and those of two or more races (30% to 29%). The highest number of graduates were Asian women and men. Whites continue to maintain the next highest rates, although Blacks and Hispanics have also increased graduation. Still the gaps between Whites and both Blacks and Hispanics attaining degrees has widened (Kena et al., 2015).

For students who attended high school in 2002, those with high socioeconomic levels had graduated with a bachelor's or higher degree by 2012 at a rate of 60%, while middle socioeconomic levels and lower socioeconomic levels were 29% and 14% respectively. Closing these gaps increases the number of diverse student in higher education who successfully graduate, and the availability of a more diverse counselor education student population. As the nontraditional student population in counseling programs increases, these students will experience the social belonging and autonomy that are "a crucial factor in student success" (Clark, Mercer, Zeigler-Hill, & Dufrene, 2012, p.178).

Educators believe the history of discriminatory laws and attitudes toward racial and ethnic minorities and women's limited access to and hopes for higher education also affect the numbers of nontraditional students considering higher education (Brock, 2010). Lack of financial

aid prior to 1965, and the benefit of the federal G.I. Bill for primarily white men also skewed higher education toward higher socioeconomic level students and white men.

Recruitment and Retention

Researchers have attempted to understand persistence and completion rate differences in college students, focusing on race, ethnicity, gender (Brock, 2010), socioeconomic status, age, parent education, having children, age of children, hours worked, sex (Ballantyne, Madden, & Todd, 2009) and first generation college students (Giancola, Munz, & Trares, 2008; Unverferth, Talbert-Johnson, & Bogard, 2012). Traditional undergraduate students are predicted to have high persistence and completion rates while nontraditional student characteristics are negatively correlated with persistence (Brock, 2010; Unverferth et al., 2012). "All of the characteristics used to define nontraditional status—delayed entry into college from high school, working fulltime, single parenthood, and so on—are considered 'risk factors' because they are negatively correlated with persistence" (Brock, 2010, p. 115). Since "higher education is a vehicle for both economic advancement and social justice" (Bowl, 2005, p. 122), counselor educators have a responsibility beyond ensuring the diversity of counselors in the field (Council for Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs [CACREP], 2009), this supports a need for counselor education curriculum to address recruitment and retention of nontraditional students, especially for counseling students training to work in kindergarten through high school and at higher education settings.

Understanding the demographics that contribute to persistence and completion is not enough to increase the successful recruitment, retention, and successful completion of nontraditional students (Brock, 2010). Researchers have identified the need to understand students' skills and abilities, personal motivation and objectives, and external commitments.

Also, researchers questioned whether student integration into the classroom and informal student meeting places; the quality and frequency of interactions with students, faculty, and staff; cultural norms; and school organizational structure and process affect persistence or completion.

Or what combination of student factors and program factors affect student outcomes?

While there has been some research on recruitment and retention of students based on socioeconomic status (SES), age, gender and ethnicity, there has been less focus on the impact of the curriculum, pedagogy, and classroom interactions on the learning of non-traditional students (Bowl, 2005). Since the correlation of demographics with recruitment and retention is not enough to engage nontraditional students, counselor educators need to pay attention to the specific needs of nontraditional students and effective institutional characteristics that support their wellbeing (Bowman & Small, 2012; Myers & Mobley, 2004). Bowman and Small (2012) define student wellbeing as satisfaction and a sense of purpose and state these are important in student retention. The campus racial climate also affects minority students', as well as majority students', adjustment and sense of belonging.

Research of nontraditional students perceptions have attempted to inform recruitment and retention. An Australian study investigated nontraditional student perceptions of their first year experiences, the influence of their background, and their attitudes toward learning. The students reported a high value in studying personally interesting subjects, developing skills important to their chosen field of study, and improving job prospects (Ballantyne et al., 2009). Although socioeconomic status (SES) only moderately affected perceptions, the majority of medium and high SES students believed academic staff were approachable, while more than 20% of the lower SES students were not confident in their ability to engage academic staff. Ballantyne et al. (2009) found age had a significant impact on student perceptions regardless of differences in

SES. Students over 25 years old had stronger sense of purpose, higher learning, and high motivation, enjoyed being at the university and intellectual challenges, were less influenced by family, were more confident in math skills and less in computer skills. Age did not impact accessing online systems.

Findings for parents in higher education are varied. In undergraduates, Quimby and O'Brian (2006) found both psychological distress and benefits for women balancing academic and family responsibilities. The researchers found secure attachment, parent and student self efficacy, and social support (Syed, Azmitia, & Cooper, 2011) contributed to prediction of psychological distress (Quimby & O'Brian, 2006). While in first year nontraditional Australian college students, the researchers (Ballantyne et al., 2009) found significantly more parents enjoyed their courses. Parents were confident in their occupation choice, had higher class attendance, and used support services regularly. Still, the authors noted that family commitments may affect coursework and require flexibility.

While there is a dearth of research on recruitment and retention of students from sexual minorities in counselor education, educators have expressed concerns that faculty trained prior to 1986, when homosexuality was removed from the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM), may not understand current research on sexual minorities, including critical thinking about heterosexist views in psychological theories (Bennett, 2002). Further, "discussions about sexual orientation may be profoundly uncomfortable for the sexual minority student or the student with unexamined or unresolved views about sexuality" (Bennett, 2002, p. 137). For both students with negative personal or religious views toward sexual minorities and sexual minorities, discussions of legal, ethical, and professional standards prohibiting discrimination of sexual minorities may result in hostility, defensiveness, and strong emotional

responses. While Bennett (2002) suggests responding to students' sharing with mutual curiosity and empathy to increase understanding, the effects on sexual minorities is not understood.

Furthermore, there is no research addressing the current effects of states legalizing discrimination.

Hayes, Chun-Kennedy, Edens, & Locke (2011) questioned whether sexual minority students who were also ethnic minorities had increased psychological distress due to being double minorities. While sexual minority students experienced more psychological distress than heterosexual and majority culture students, those students who were also ethnic minorities experienced no additional distress. The researchers suggested this may be due to intersectional invisibility, having multiple marginalized identities within a group of a single marginalized identity rendering the individual invisible (e.g. an African American and lesbian student within LGBT group) and less likely to experience additional discrimination. Sexual minority students who were also ethnic minorities did experience more psychological distress than ethnic minority students. This may be due to the prevalence of heterosexism in ethnic minority cultures (Hayes et al., 2011)

Another population of nontraditional students that has been under examined is religious minorities (Bowman & Small, 2012). While there is a positive correlation between religiosity and mental health, including lower depression and anxiety, life satisfaction, hope and optimism, happiness, and purpose and meaning, the research on college students and religion has mixed results and methodological flaws (Bowman & Small, 2012). "Religious minority students may be acutely aware of their marginalized status on campus and American society, which may lead to diminished well-being" (Bowman & Small 2012, p. 493). Bowman and Small (2012) proposed that the "privileging of Christian Beliefs and norms at most institutions, along with potential

prejudice and discrimination faced by non-Christian groups" (p. 494) contribute to students' negative emotions and dissatisfaction with life. The effects on students' positive relationships and sense of competence and purpose were less clear, often depending on the specific minority group considered. Two important findings across students were that religious engagement and an ecumenical worldview, understanding and accepting all spiritual and religious beliefs, were positively related to well-being. Bowman and Small (2012) recommend that since successful coping had a positive effect on wellbeing, schools should focus on building those skills in students and supporting religious and spiritual groups that provide them.

Since first generation students are often minorities, women, immigrants, parents, and older than 24, as well as having low SES, they share some of the same challenges (Giancola et al., 2008; Unverferth et al., 2012). They see their abilities and potential as inferior, overestimate tuition, do not connect career goals to education requirements, have poor retention, have lower degree goals, and attend school part time. If they are also low SES and minority, first generation students likely lack knowledge of financial aid and how to complete college admissions. And due to financial stresses, first generation students may have to work harder, take fewer hours, and forgo participation in extracurricular activities. They may also have to work harder on their coursework, since they often have lower math, reading, and critical thinking skills. Other research shows they report low satisfaction with, but high importance of, admissions and financial aid services, effective instruction, academic advising, effective registration, campus climate, safety and security, and academic services, (Giancola et al., 2008).

Minority and Nontraditional Student Culture and Counselor Education

Culture Challenges for Students

Ethnic minority graduate experience significant challenges, including reporting discrimination, prejudice, stereotyping and emotional distress (Clark et al., 2012; Cole, 2010). A study of African-American college students found they often experienced negative racial-based interpersonal exchanges with friends and in intimate situations, resulting in significant emotional impacts, mostly anger (Swim, Hyers, Cohen, Fitzgerald, & Bylsma, 2003). Students that experience this emotional distress reported lower levels of belonging, which correlated with lower academic engagement (Clark et al., 2012). Lack of belonging and negative beliefs about competence may result in impostor feelings, which can lead to unrealistically high standards, depression, anxiety, and low self-esteem (Cokley, McClain, Enciso, & Martinez, 2013). Imposter feelings are the internal sense of intellectual phoniness and fear of exposure. Those experiencing imposter feelings do not believe their success is due to their own skill or intelligence, instead crediting hard work, luck, or a mistake. Cokley et al. (2013) found Asian Americans were especially prone to imposter feelings, showing that even positive stereotypes can affect student mental health.

Minority students also respond differently to faculty and peer interactions within the classroom. African American students showed significant effects on grade point averages (GPA) in response to peer and faculty interactions (Cole, 2010). While course-related faculty contact was positively related to GPA, advice and criticism from faculty negatively affected African-American students more than other ethnic minorities. Course-related faculty contact was on course and program issues. Advice and criticism from faculty included corrective feedback on skill development, and the adequacy or quality of assignments or papers.

Faculty must understand minority student culture to address these disproportionate effects on student learning experiences. Students that are from collectivist cultures require social relationship variables, especially social connectedness, for mental health (Yoon, Jung, Lee, & Felix-Mora, 2012). Social connectedness is defined as the interpersonal closeness in the social world. Students who have immigrated from collectivistic cultures often lose previous social connections when entering the highly individualistic mainstream culture of the United States (US), with its historic marginalization of ethnic minorities. Yoon et al. (2012) further identify that ethnic minorities live in distinct contexts – mainstream society and the ethnic community – and may have a different sense of connectedness depending on psychological factors like acculturation and enculturation; and national and ethnic identity. Contextual factors such as ethnic density; and social acceptance and rejection, also contribute to the sense of connectedness.

Minority students who are unable to negotiate the majority culture, as well as their own, experience higher levels of perceived minority stress (Cokley et al., 2013; Wei et al., 2010). Minority stress occurs as the result of discrimination and prejudice or experiencing differences from the majority culture, including interethnic difficulties, within-group conflicts, and achievement stress. Minority students who have perceived minority stress and do not have the ability to negotiate the majority culture, called bicultural competence, are more likely to experience depressive symptoms, low self-esteem, and low retention rates (Wei et al., 2010).

When entering a campus where nontraditional students view themselves as the minority and a perceived threat, these students may identify more with groups that represent their minority status, according to social identity theory (Syed et al., 2011). Although the theory proposes students do this to increase self-worth and maximize social support, they may experience the opposite due to awareness of negative stereotypes for the group. Syed et al. (2011) note that

negative stereotypes of the groups' achievement potential may lead to the students' doubts about their ability and disengaging from school.

Cultural values of respect for authority may be reflected in nontraditional students' class participation levels and help seeking behavior (Alvarez, Cervantes, Blume, & Thomas (2009). These students may view critical discourse as rude or disrespectful. Majority culture faculty may view this lack of active participation as disinterest, not understanding materials, and poor assertiveness skills.

Alvarez et al. (2009) identified other cultural challenges. Students who are not proficient in writing or speaking English face challenges with understanding lectures, readings and research papers, as well as expressing and responding to emotional material in a second language. Also, students who have a different view of the flow of time may be challenged by time management, priority setting, and the academic calendar.

For students who have families, there may be differences in family values about the prescribed roles and responsibilities within families and these may conflict with academic responsibilities (Alvarez et al., 2009). The additional responsibility of financial support for the family may create financial barriers. "This tension will likely impact how students are perceived and evaluated, decisions for retention, the volume of research that is generated, and students' professional involvement." (Alvarez et al., 2009, p. 183).

Discrimination

Many nontraditional students' experience discrimination and prejudice. Minority students often have a distrust of educational institutions due to these experiences and historic institutional discrimination (Alvarez et al., 2009). Stereotype threat has also affected minority students, with African-American students experiencing the greatest effects (Cokley et al., 2013). Stereotype

threat is a higher awareness of the negative stereotypes associated with a group. Discrimination has been associated with higher levels of low self-esteem, psychological distress (Wei et al., 2010), social isolation, substance use, depression, anxiety (Alvarez et al., 2009), and academic engagement (Clark et al., 2012). Academic engagement includes participation/interaction, skill engagement, emotional engagement, and performance. Along with the presence of microaggressions, and prejudice or discriminatory interactions causing stress to minority students, faculty and curriculum with a Eurocentric focus that do not connect to the student's culture may cause alienation (Alvarez et al., 2009). Faculty with negative or positive stereotypes of minority students will have distorted perceptions and evaluations. Minority students may internalize these stereotypes, causing increased stress for performance.

Also, faculty's prejudices, isms, and stereotypes may be reflected in what they choose to teach, ignore, attend to, and interpret in student contributions (Bennett, 2002). Whether the instructors demonstrate strong negative reactions to student views, or lack the skill or intention to manage conflicting views, their response may inhibit students' understanding of alternative points of view. Further, students who experience negative cues in the classroom may develop perceptions of faculty that affect their willingness to initiate interactions with faculty outside the classroom (Cole, 2010). These accessibility cues, positive or negative, affect frequency of interaction with faculty outside the classroom and influence academic achievement.

Implications for Counselor Education

Recruitment and Retention

Effective nontraditional student recruitment and retention requires counselor education programs to identify a specific plan that addresses the needs of the students (Robinson, Lewis, Henderson, & Flowers, 2009); an institutional commitment to diversity of students, faculty, and

staff; creating partnerships for recruitment, training, and retention; using a comprehensive review process for admissions; student support services for academic, administrative and personal needs from academic through graduation processes; opportunities for networking and connection to counselor education leaders (Kreuter et al., 2011). Robinson et al. (2009) recommend recruitment and retention plans have a mission statement of the intention to increase nontraditional student success in the program, specific recruitment assignments for faculty and staff, adequate funding, and a mentoring process for faculty and students.

For recruitment of nontraditional students, counseling programs should provide financial assistance, financial aid information, and mentoring for completing the application process, meeting social needs (Unverferth et al., 2012), developing a realistic timeline to deal with students' moving, family responsibilities, and work concerns (Robinson et al., 2009). Faculty mentors would begin communication with students before and during the admissions process. And universities would address the issues of cost, time, and scholarly productivity for faculty mentors (Kreuter et al., 2011). Recruitment would access diverse media and other social outlets, for example faculty engaging with social service organizations serving minority communities.

Counseling program efforts to retain nontraditional students should include faculty and students genuinely welcoming nontraditional students, a commitment to a safe and relevant learning environment, and clear guidelines for addressing discrimination (Robinson et al., 2009). Unverferth et al. (2012) added the need for positive small group peer and faculty interactions, promoting a sense of belonging, activism and risk taking, inspirational teaching and a clear academic plan.

Program characteristics, such as recruitment, curriculum, and pedagogy, are also important in attracting and retaining nontraditional students (Bennett, 2002; Bidell, Turner, &

Casas, 2006). Attracting nontraditional students to mental health counseling programs has not been investigated, but research into psychology program recruitment provides findings that may be generalized. Bidell, Turner, and Casas (2006) found that psychology programs that included salient information for racial and sexual minority students had significantly higher multicultural student populations. The major themes that were important to minority students included: financial aid for minorities, program requirements, course descriptions, student body demographics, and the clarity and quality of the materials. The minor themes that were important were the faculty research interests, admissions procedures, community information, and personal letters and contacts. Other information considered were inquiries of the applicant's prior experiences with diverse populations, antidiscrimination policy, statements on commitment to diversity training and recruitment of a diverse student body, information on a diversity minor, and faculty research interests in multicultural issues. The researchers note that one way to increase a diverse student body, as required by ethics and accreditation standards, is to improve the recruitment materials to reflect the programs' multicultural competence and diversity commitment (Bidell, Turner, & Casas, 2006).

Since minority students' ability to negotiate the majority group and their own without losing their sense of cultural identity, bicultural competence, moderates negative emotional symptoms of minority stress (Wei et al., 2010), minority students would benefit from learning the coping resources that make up the competence. Two components of bicultural competence that showed the most buffering were social groundedness and cultural knowledge (Wei et al., 2010). Personal factors like internalized heterosexism and the stage of racial identity development affect minority students' appraisal of stressors. The bicultural competence that helps minority students maintain positive mental health and to remain in school despite minority

stress, includes knowing cultural beliefs and values, positive beliefs about majority and minority groups, belief that a person can engage in two cultures without compromising the person's cultural identity, ability to communicate effectively, have appropriate behaviors for both cultures, and have social networks in both cultural groups (Wei et al., 2010).

Research on campus climate effect on LGBT academic and career development and retention (Tetreault, Fette, Meidlinger & Hope, 2013) could be applied to counselor education programs. Tetreault et al. (2013) identified the need for campuses to institute policies, procedures and facilities to be more inclusive, so students have the ability to be open about sexual orientation and gender identity, and experience social support after disclosure. Faculty, staff, and students that are welcoming and inclusive, including providing student programs and services that involve LGBT and other minority students on campus, encourage the sense of belonging researchers have identified as necessary for minority students. As minority student populations increase on campuses, all students increase their understanding of multiple perspectives and think about problems in more complex ways.

Curriculum and Pedagogy

While curriculum in a CACREP accredited program follows the standards, pedagogy is not addressed. Bennett (2002) recommends pedagogy based on intersubjective theory, which requires faculty to think critically about multicultural implications of curriculum and invite student questions and challenges. Although there is no current research, current events that reflect discrimination based on a minority status may be important additions to the curriculum for discussion. The theory instructs faculty to be self-aware of their experience of the teaching process and the meaning to enhance learning. Faculty are not only facilitators for learning, but they affirm the students' knowledge and experience, attend to nonverbal cues, and address group

dynamics (Bennett, 2002). According to the theory, when the instructor encourages curiosity about the cultural meaning of the curriculum, lectures, and what is not shared, students increase their critical thinking. When considering the needs of female parents, counselor education faculty need to recognize women who "perceived safe and supportive relationships as well as relationships in which their skills and competence were recognized demonstrated low levels of distress" (Quimby & O'Brian, 2006, p. 456). Brock (2010, p. 119) adds the importance of "pedagogical practices that emphasize "high structure" and "high challenge" – for example, giving students step-by-step guidelines for undertaking complicated academic tasks, while also engaging them in authentic debate and intellectual exchange."

Research into student and faculty interactions with ethnic minorities should also inform faculty interactions with students in the classroom, in evaluation, and mentoring. While ethnic minority students benefit from contact with faculty to discuss course related issues, faculty need to consider the negative effects of faculty advice and criticism on ethnic GPA (Cole, 2010). Cole (2010) recommends that faculty identify student academic and skill development as incremental, not entity – a fixed ability. Faculty would give feedback to ethnic minority students focused on knowledge and skill development instead of ability. Also, students would receive information on learning styles and strategies to increase learning and skill development. This would include learning how to ask questions about critical thinking, as well as the resulting answers.

Counselor education programs need to understand the differences between students' cultures and the culture of academia, which is often Eurocentric (Alvarez et al., 2009). Since gender, socioeconomic status, age, sexual orientation, acculturation, ethnic identity affect students' experiences of discrimination, race, ethnicity, and culture, faculty "need to proactively engage students in discourse, be aware and respectful of diverse cultural behaviors, and be aware

of the potential history and consequences of discrimination and internalized oppression" (Alvarez et al., 2009, p. 183). Alvarez et al. (2009) also believe faculty must be aware of their personal history, assess their own racial and ethnic identity, and understand the professional impact of their own cultural identity. The implications for counselor education programs are the importance of considering environmental factors like the number of similar ethnic minority students (Clark et al., 2012) and faculty (Alvarez et al., 2009), acceptance of the ethnic minorities' culture, understanding of individual acculturation or enculturation, and the practice of addressing discrimination and microaggressions in the classroom (Clark et al., 2012; Yoon et al., 2012). For students that are enculturated, inclusion of cultural behavior, food, language, music, emotions, identity, beliefs, knowledge, and values, in the counseling program would encourage social connectedness. Faculty who model values of inclusion and respect for differences help minority students identify their own values (Alvarez et al., 2009). This means encouraging discussion of cultural similarities and differences between faculty and students, and understanding influence of culture on faculty and student relationships. Also, students and faculty with the same worldviews and beliefs affiliate with each other, often based on ethnic identification, skin color, facial features, and shared languages (Alvarez et al., 2009). This may require a balance between providing support and maintaining professional boundaries.

Alvarez et al. (2009) believe ethnic identity theories help provide the conceptual framework for faculty members to address their psychological identification with culture and their resulting behavior. Faculty that understand (Helm, 1995), emphasize and value culture will model this for students (Alvarez et al., 2009), as well as facilitate increased awareness for those with lower cultural identity (Helm, 1995). Conversely, when students have greater racial identity development than faculty, there is a greater likelihood of challenge and conflict (Helm, 1995).

For example, faculty ethnic identity often is reflected in research interests, policy advocacy, and professional association membership. For faculty, this means not only understanding themselves culturally, but relating that to their assumptions about students' communities; their understanding of oppression, power, and privilege, and their ability to openly address and include culture in their relationships with students.

Faculty working with student advisees should address culture by supporting the student navigating two cultures, focus on career development, fostering a close, personal relationship, recognize the stressors of financial responsibilities, maintain awareness and discuss differences in cultural behaviors, and identify students' values to support a balance of academic and family or cultural responsibilities. This may mean discussing with students how to develop relationships with faculty; awareness of cultural rules about power and authority; how to understand cultural norms and expectations of academia; cultural values, practices and worldview integration into professional identity; and management of discrimination, stereotypes, and prejudice. Further, faculty advisors may identify students' awareness and thoughts about race (Clark et al., 2012), ethnicity, and culture, to increase their awareness of advisees' culture and racial identity

Faculty working with first generation college and older students need to be aware of pedagogy that is more relevant to this population (Giancola et al., 2008). These students have rich personal and work experiences that develop into values and identities that impact their college perceptions. This includes the need to connect what they are learning in the classroom to their life experiences and career goals.

Conclusion

The field of counselor education would benefit from more research exploring the experiences of nontraditional students to help inform pedagogy and practices. When viewing

nontraditional students across subgroups, what becomes clear in the research is there are negative correlations between beliefs about these students' preparation for college success, programs do not demonstrate a welcoming and inclusive campus, there are experiences of discrimination and prejudice, and the curriculum and pedagogy is not multicultural. As advocates, counselor educators need to identify primary, secondary, and postsecondary institutions that do not have the resources or willingness to provide quality educations and advising to nontraditional students and advocate for reform, rather than only holding nontraditional students accountable for lack of preparation. Further, counselor educators need to review their institutions recruitment policies and procedures to ensure they are designed to meet the identified needs of nontraditional students. In counselor education programs, faculty, staff, and students can implement policies and procedures that create the welcoming and inclusive structure that addresses all of the subgroups that make up nontraditional students. And counseling faculty can apply the curriculum and pedagogy practices that support nontraditional student retention.

References

- Alvarez, A. N., Cervantes, J. M., Blume, A. W., & Thomas, L. R. (2009). Tapping the wisdom tradition: Essential elements to mentoring students of color. *Professional Psychology:**Research and Practice, 40, 181-188
- Ballantyne, J., Madden, T., & Todd, N. (2009). Gauging the attitudes of non-traditional students at a new campus: An Australian case study. *Journal of Higher Education Policy And Management*, 31(4), 301-313.
- Bennett, S. (2002). Addressing homophobia and heterosexism in the mental health classroom:

 An intersubjective frame for learning. *Journal of Lesbian Studies*, 6(3-4), 133-143.

 doi:10.1300/J155v06n03_12
- Bidell, M. P., Turner, J. A., & Casas, J. (2006). First impressions count: Ethnic/racial and lesbian/gay/bisexual content of professional psychology application materials.

 *Professional Psychology: Research & Practice, 33(1), 97.
- Bowman, N. A., & Small, J. L. (2012). Exploring a hidden form of minority status: College students' religious affiliation and well-being. *Journal of College Student Development*, 53(4), 491-509.
- Bowl, M. (2005). Valuing diversity in the social science curriculum. *Learning and Teaching in the Social Sciences*, 2, 121-136.
- Brock, T. (2010). Young adults and higher education: Barriers and breakthroughs to success. *Future of Children*, 20(1), 109-132.
- Bundy, A. P. & Smith T. B. (2004). Breaking with tradition: Effective counseling services for nontraditional students. *Journal of College Counseling*, 7, 3-4.

- Clark, C. R., Mercer, S. H., Zeigler-Hill, V., & Dufrene, B. A. (2012). Barriers to the success of ethnic minority students in school psychology graduate programs. *School Psychology Review*, 41(2), 176-192.
- Cokley, K., McClain, S., Enciso, A., & Martinez, M. (2013). An examination of the impact of minority status stress and impostor feelings on the mental health of diverse ethnic minority college students. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development*, 41(2), 82-95.
- Cole, D. (2010). The effects of student-faculty interactions on minority students' college grades:

 Differences between aggregated and disaggregated data. *Journal of The Professoriate*,

 3(2), 137-160.
- Council for Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs [CACREP] (2009).

 2009 standards for accreditation. Alexandria, VA: Author
- Giancola, J., Munz, D. C., & Trares, S. (2008). First versus continuing generation adult students on college perceptions: Are differences actually because of demographic variance? *Adult Education Quarterly*, 58(3), 214-228. doi:10.1177/0741713608314088
- Hayes, J. A., Chun-Kennedy, C., Edens, A., & Locke, B. D. (2011). Do double minority students face double jeopardy? Testing minority stress theory. *Journal of College Counseling*, 14(2), 117-126.
- Kena, G., Musu-Gillette, L., Robinson, J., Wang, X., Rathbun, A., Zhang, J., Wilkinson-Flicker,
 S., Barmer, A., & Dunlop Velez, E. (2015). *The Condition of Education* 2015 (NCES 2015-144). U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics.
 Washington, DC. Retrieved June 1, 2015, from http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch.

- Kreuter, M. W., Griffith, D. J., Thompson, V., Brownson, R. C., McClure, S., Scharff, D. P., & ... Haire-Joshu, D. (2011). Lessons learned from a decade of focused recruitment and training to develop minority public health professionals. *American Journal of Public Health*, 101(S1), S188-S195. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2011.300122
- Myers, J. E., & Mobley, K. (2004). Wellness of undergraduates: Comparisons of traditional and nontraditional students. *Journal of College Counseling*, 7(1), 40-49.
- Quimby, J. L., & O'Brien, K. M. (2006). Predictors of well-being among nontraditional female students with children. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 84(4), 451-460.
- Robinson, M. C., Lewis, D., Henderson, D., & Flowers, C. R. (2009). Increasing minority student enrollment in counselor education. *Rehabilitation Education*, 23(2), 183-192.
- Swim, J., Hyers, L., Cohen, L., Fitzgerald, D., & Bylsma, W. (2003). African American college students' experiences with everyday racism: Characteristics of and responses to these incidents. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 29(1), 38-67.
- Syed, M., Azmitia, M., & Cooper, C. R. (2011). Identity and academic success among underrepresented ethnic minorities: An interdisciplinary review and integration. *Journal of Social Issues*, 67(3), 442-468. doi:10.1111/j.1540-4560.2011.01709.x
- Tetreault, P. A., Fette, R., Meidlinger, P. C., & Hope, D. (2013). Perceptions of campus climate by sexual minorities. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 60(7), 947-964. doi:10.1080/00918369.2013.774874
- Unverferth, A., Talbert-Johnson, C., & Bogard, T. (2012). Perceived barriers for first-generation students: Reforms to level the terrain. *International Journal of Educational Reform*, 21(4), 238-252.

- U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2015). Labor force statistics from the current population survey: Household data annual averages 11. Employed persons by detailed occupation, sex, race, and Hispanic or Latino ethnicity. Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov/cps/cpsaat11.htm..
- Wei, M., Liao, K. Y., Chao, R. C., Mallinckrodt, B., Tsai, P, & Botello-Zamarron, R. (2010).
 Minority stress, perceived bicultural competence, and depressive symptoms among ethnic minority college students. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 57, 411-422.
- Yoon, E., Jung, K. R., Lee, R. M., Felix-Mora, M. (2012). Validation of social connectedness in mainstream society and the ethnic community scales. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, *18*, 64-73.

Improving Minority Student Mental Health: Implications and Strategies for Campus

Mental Health Providers

Kimberly P. Jenkins-Richardson

University of Alabama

Author Note

Correspondence concerning this article should be addressed to Ms. Kimberly P. Jenkins-Richardson, University of Alabama Counseling Center, P.O. Box 870362, Tuscaloosa, AL 35487-0362. E-mail: jenki011@sa.ua.edu; Phone: 205 348-3863.

Abstract

Enrollment at colleges and universities has increased tremendously over the last few decades. Similarly, college enrollment has increased for racial and ethnic minority (REM) students. With this increase diversification, college counselors have to consider the type of student that would be utilizing services and make changes that would be conducive to culturally sensitive and competent care. This study explores factors such as mental health stigma, discrimination, and socioeconomic class as a potential barrier for REM students considering seeking mental health treatment. Implications and considerations for counselors working with student populations, including outreach programming and specialized interventions are discussed.

Improving Minority Student Mental Health: Implications and Strategies for Campus

Mental Health Providers

Discrimination, lack of access to quality mental health services, cultural and historical mistrust of health care providers, and stigmatization of mental health issues and treatments are barriers that hinder racial/ethnic minorities from seeking professional mental health services. These same barriers appear to discourage racial/ethnic minority students from utilizing services at college campus counseling centers. The following will address these barriers and offer suggestions for campus mental health providers to assist in increasing the utilization of services by racial/ethnic minority students. In this document, the term racial/ethnic minorities will be utilized as the terminology is congruent with the language of the professional literature.

Discrimination

Racial and ethnic discrimination has been a prominent factor for members of racial/ethnic minority groups, historically and even in today's culture. Cheng, Kwan, & Sevig (2013) discussed that anticipation of discrimination was a predictor for underutilization of mental health services even after considering factors such as "access to health care, mental health, and physical status" (p.100). Research suggests a correlation between perceived discrimination by members of racial/ethnic minority groups and concerns about being stigmatized for obtaining mental health services by others (Cheng, Kwan, & Sevig, 2013).

"Institutional and societal racism of REM [racial and ethnic minorities] have been historically stigmatized as deficient, weak, problematic, or dangerous" (Cheng, Kwan, & Sevig, 2013, p. 100). Discrimination and racism have been identified as factors that influence the development of stigma related to mental illness and seeking mental health services (Davidson, Yakushka, & Sanford-Martens, 2004; Cheng, Kwan, & Sevig, 2013). Brinson & Kottler (1995)

discussed that minority's perspectives are often associated with past and current encounters with racism in modern culture.

Historically racial/ethnic minorities have had a tumultuous relationship with the health care system in the United States. According to Boulware et al. (2003), "African Americans have been shown to have greater awareness of documented history of racial discrimination in the health care system than white Americans" (p.363). Significant historical incidences such as the Tuskegee Syphilis Study, which lasted 40 years (1932-1972) took place during the lifetime of adults that are ages 42 and older. These incidents could potentially be seen as the most prominent factor related to generational distrust of the health care system by the African American community, especially health care institutions that are research and clinically based care (Boulware et al., 2003; Gamble, 1997).

Previous to the Tuskegee Syphilis study, there were concerns about the unfair medical treatment and experiments that were completed on ethnic/racial minorities by white doctors (Boulware et al., 2003; Gamble, 1997). In the early 20th century, black-run and operated hospitals were established across the country (Gamble, 1997). "The founders of Black hospitals claimed that only Black physicians possessed the skills required to treat Black patients optimally and that Black hospitals provided these patients with the best possible care" (Gamble, 1997, p. 1775). Brinson & Kottler (1995) discussed the ways in which the historical contexts of distrust could potentially lead individuals of the racial/ethnic minority groups to be suspicious of the practitioner's motives to help them especially if the practitioner is a member of the dominant culture.

According to Masuda, Anderson, & Edmonds (2012), "psychosocial factors, such as poverty, lack of access to services or transportation, racial-ethnic mismatch, and mistrust of

provider, have been shown to relate to service underuse and preference among African Americans" (p. 774). The history of the relationships between Caucasians and specific racial/ethnic minority groups (i.e. African American, Mexican Americans and American Indians) could be a barrier to overcome in order to ensure an effective relationship such as a counselor/client relationship (Brinson & Kottler, 1995). Ford (2013) suggested factors such as "geographic or financial inaccessibility and lack of clinician diversity" (p. 4) could be potential barriers preventing successful utilization of mental health services among racial/ethnic minority groups.

Socio-Economic Class

Another factor that should be considered is socioeconomic status and its association with utilization of mental health services. According to Cook et al. (2014), "greater socioeconomic status was generally positively associated with greater utilization and expenditures, whereas lack of insurance and being fully employed were negative predictors of utilization and expenditures" (p. 219). Ford (2013) found that racial/ethnic minorities with lower income and less education were more likely to not utilize mental health services, but as the income level and education attainment increased within the racial/ethnic minority population, mental health service utilization increased. It should be noted that although the utilization increased among the racial/ethnic population, research suggests that the members of the racial/ethnic minority group were more likely to prematurely terminate services in comparison to their white counterparts (Ford, 2013).

Roy-Byrne, Joesch, Wang, & Kessler (2009) discussed the idea that socioeconomic status is related to the quality of treatment, such as the type of mental health treatment setting, the availability of medication, and the quality of the therapeutic services. Settings such as

community mental health centers are often limited in the services they can provide to the community due to "provider shortages and funding cuts to community health centers, Medicaid, and state mental health agencies" (Shin, Sharac, & Mauery, 2013, p. 495). Community Mental Health Centers were initially established to be comprehensive in treating a wide variety of mental health concerns, but are now focused on treating more debilitating mental health issues. It leaves the conversation open for a discussion of what services are available to individuals from low socio-economic backgrounds whose mental health concerns are not debilitating but are causing some conflict within the individual's daily functioning. This could potentially contribute to the assumption that mental health services are for the severely mentally ill and/or the rich.

Mental Health Stigma

Mental health stigma is an additional factor to take into consideration because of its impact on racial/ethnic minority group underutilization of mental health services. According to Barksdale & Molock (2009):

Stigma associated with mental illness has been identified as a primary obstacle to the progress made in mental health prevention, treatment, and research. African Americans have been found to hold more stigmatizing beliefs about individuals with mental illness and voice more concern about stigma related to mental health treatment compared to Caucasians. Research suggests that African Americans consider stigma a salient barrier to seeking professional treatment for mental illness. (p. 288)

Mental health stigma is an issue that can be seen in differing racial/ethnic groups, including the majority culture. Davidson, Yakushka, & Sanford-Martens (2004) discussed that among the African American population mental health stigma has been a predictor of mental health service utilization. Caesar-Richardson (2012) discussed the idea that "the existence of

drug addiction becomes more normal than the existence of mental health concerns and ultimately stigmatizes mental illness in the Black community" (p. 103). Mental health stigma, even if the stigma is perceived, often deters individuals from seeking psychological treatment and interferes with returning to care, if the individual has started receiving services (Cheng, Kwan, & Sevig, 2013).

Cheng, Kwan, & Sevig (2013) discussed mental health stigma in two categories, *public stigma* and *self-stigma*. Public stigma is defined as "the belief that a person who seeks mental health service is perceived by the general public as flawed and socially undesirable, whereas self-stigma refers to an individual's negative perceptions about herself or himself for seeking psychological help" (Cheng, Kwan, & Sevig, 2013, p. 99). Barksdale & Molock (2009) found similar concepts related to the African American community and social norms. In their research it was suggested that:

African Americans believe that seeking professional help for mental illnesses was not acceptable to family and friends. In tight-knit family networks, when mental health help-seeking norms are not congruent with formal service use, the individual in need of help is often discouraged from seeking formal help. Indeed, the cultural teachings among African-American families, such as the high value of privacy (e.g., "keep family business within the family"), may deviate from the basic principles of formal treatment (e.g., disclosure) and may inevitably translate into underutilization of professional mental health services. (p.288)

Improving Minority Student Mental Health

Improving minority student mental health is not an exact science. According to Locke, Bieschke, Castonguay, & Hayes (2012), "services seem to positively influence outcome; and that

the ability of therapists to create effective alliances with clients facilitates positive outcomes" (p.237). Research suggests that racial/ethnic minority college students, especially African Americans, are found to be less likely to seek out campus mental health services (Masuda, Anderson, & Edmonds, 2013; Barksdale & Molock, 2009; Caesar-Richardson, 2012). If professional mental health services improves mental health outcomes and racial/ethnic minorities are underutilizing mental health services, it is conceivable that the first steps to improve outcomes for minority students mental health concerns would be to learn to how improve service utilization of the population. The following will address research suggestions to improve utilization among racial/ethnic minority groups, with specific implications for improving African American student's utilization.

Counseling Center Staff

Hayes et al. (2011) found that a higher number of minority students sought counseling services when there were therapists of the same or similar ethnic/racial background. Similarly, Brinson & Kottler (1995) suggests that a reason racial/ethnic minority students do not utilize campus counseling services is due to "the lack of ethnically similar counselors, the lack of culturally sensitive treatment approaches, the focus on individual rather than on environmental forces, and the staff's lack of familiarity with cultural differences" (p. 373). Such research suggests that, not only does the campus counseling center have to have racial & ethnically diverse staff members to assist with increasing minority student utilization, but that the staff in its entirety have to be familiar with treatment modalities that are conducive to providing culturally appropriate care for the target population. Davidson, Yakushka, & Sanford-Martens (2004) added:

Counselors should be encouraged to have an open discussion with all of their clients, especially their racial and ethnic minority clients, about the process of psychotherapy. Such a discussion may reduce the occurrence of racial and ethnic minority clients not returning to counseling after a single session. Additionally, counseling centers may want to consider evaluation of current services to determine whether interventions are culturally appropriate. (p.268)

Counseling Center Programming

One method that some campus counseling centers use to gain more visibility on campus and to foster relationships with students and faculty/staff is outreach programs. These programs are often held in locations away from the counseling center as a way to reach students as well as faculty and staff in a neutral and less formal setting. Suggestions have been made that outreach programming could be used to assist in increasing minority student's utilization of counseling center services. Brinson & Kottler (1995) discussed the campus counseling center staff should consider:

presenting workshops on subjects of special interest to minority students (racial identity, racism, interracial marriages, and so on), consulting with minority student organizations on campus, showing greater visibility of counseling staff in settings where minority students spend their time (e.g., residence halls, sporting events, libraries), and making presentations to classes that cover the services provided (especially those that might be attractive to minority populations). (p. 377)

Further research suggests that in addition to providing special interest programs to minority groups, counseling center staff should also consider programs that are more traditional in nature. This could help normalize some concerns the students may be experiencing such as

stress, relationships, sleep concerns, anxiety, adjustment, and academic issues as well as information about the services offered at the campus counseling center (Masuda, Anderson, & Edmonds, 2012; Davidson, Yakushka, & Sanford-Martens, 2004). Davidson, Yakushka, & Sanford-Martens (2004) discussed that "students who attended programming that was culture specific were much more likely to feel motivated to hear the message, and find it personally relevant to them, than were their counterparts who heard a more standard colorblind message" (p. 268). Additionally, it is recommended that outreach programs during campus-wide events, especially those attended by parents of racial/ethnic minority students, provide information about campus counseling center services as well as information to assist in reducing mental health stigma (Cheng, Kwan & Sevig, 2013).

Beyond outreach programs, some research recommended counseling center staff consider creating therapy groups specifically for clients of color; these groups should be held in locations outside of the campus counseling center preferably in a location where minority students would deem as familiar and comfortable (Davidson, Yakushka, & Sanford-Martens, 2004). These psychotherapy groups could be fashioned to appear less formal but still productive in the manner that it allows the group member to become more familiar with the therapeutic process. The groups could be symptom specific (e.g., stress management, time management, study skills) or the group could potentially be a process group where a variety of concerns are discussed; regardless of the group type, the group should still be culturally specific.

Campus/Community Collaboration

Minority student support groups and mentor programs could be an intervention utilized to familiarize students with the benefits of counseling, providing social support and a sense of accountability. Brinson & Kottler (1995) suggests pairing minority students will faculty

members who provide support which includes academic assistance as well as helps "students to become aware of resources that are available on campus: financial assistance, social opportunities, academic tutoring, and counseling services" (p.377). Through this form of outreach, the counseling center staff will educate the faculty members on how to identify at-risk students and how to refer students to the counseling center (Brinson & Kottler, 1995). Beyond educating the faculty mentors, the counseling center staff should also consider educating their allies. Allies are often faculty/staff and community members who are not directly involved with the counseling center, but could be referral sources. Masuda, Anderson, & Edmonds (2012) discussed African American students often seek out "non-psychological professionals such as familial members, close friends, and community members for emotional and psychological assistance" (p. 781). In this regard, it is imperative that the counseling center staff include community members who are connected to the target population in an effort to educate them on the services offered, how to identify distressed students, and how to refer. These community members could be an advisor of a minority interest group, campus/local spiritual group leaders, doctors, or minority faculty/staff members.

Conclusion

Although some misconceptions and barriers may be extensions of familial beliefs, racial/ethnic minority college students also appear to be discouraged from utilizing campus counseling services. Implications such as ensuring racial/ethnic diversity of counseling staff, and implementing multicultural strategies into services and interventions are research-supported recommendations for college counseling centers and their staff. Specialized outreach programs, psychotherapy groups, and community collaboration are suggested to assist in improving



References

- Barksdale, C. L., & Molock, S. D. (2009). Perceived norms and mental help? seeking among African American college students. *The Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research*, 36(3), 285-299.
- Boulware, L. E., Cooper, L. A., Ratner, L. E., LaVeist, T. A., & Powe, N. R. (2003). Race and trust in the health care system. *Public Health Reports*, 118(4), 358-365.
- Brinson, J. &. Kottler, J. A. (1995). Minorities' underutilization of counseling centers' mental health services: A case for outreach. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*, 17(4), 371-385.
- Caesar-Richardson, N. M. (2012). Strength that silences. [electronic resource]: learning from the experiences of black female college students with mental health concerns at a predominantly white institution. [Tuscaloosa, Ala.]: [University of Alabama Libraries], 2012.
- Cheng, H.-L., Kwan, K.-L. K., & Sevig, T. (2013). Racial and ethnic minority college students' stigma associated with seeking psychological help: Examining psychocultural correlates.

 *Journal of Counseling Psychology, 60(1), 98-111.
- Cook, B. L., Zuvekas, S. H., Carson, N., Wayne, G. F., Vesper, A., & McGuire, T. G. (2014).

 Assessing racial/ethnic disparities in treatment across episodes of mental health care.

 Health Research and Educational Trust, 49(1), 206-229.
- Davidson, M. M., Yakushka, O. F., & Sanford-Martens, T. C. (2004). Racial and ethnic minorities clients' utilization of a university counseling center: An archival study. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development*, 32, 259-271.

- Ford, K.-L. (2013). Barriers to mental health service use: Variation by age and race/ethnicity.

 Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Libraries.
- Gamble, V. N. (1997). Under the shadow of Tuskegee: African Americans and health care.

 American Journal of Public Health, 87(11), 1773-1778.
- Hayes, J. A., Youn, S. J., Castonguay, L. G., Locke, B. D., McAleavey, A. A., & Nordberg, S.(2011). Rates and predictors of counseling center use among college students of color.Journal of College Counseling, 14, 105-116.
- Locke, B. D., Bieschke, K. J., Castonguay, L. G., & Hayes, J. A. (2012). The Center for Collegiate Mental Health: Studying college student mental health through an innovative research infrastructure that brings science and practice together. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*, 20(4), 233-245.
- Masuda, A., Anderson, P. L., & Edmonds, J. (2012). Help-seeking attitudes, mental health stigma, and self-concealment among African American college students. *Journal of Black Studies*, 43(7), 773-786. doi:10.1177/0021934712445806
- Roy-Byrne, P. P., Joesch, J. M., Wang, P. S., & Kessler, R. C. (2009). Low socioeconomic status and mental health care use among respondents with anxiety and depression in the NCS-R. *Psychiatric Services*, 60(9), 1190-1197.
- Shin, P., Sharac, J., & Mauery, D. R. (2013). The role of community health centers in providing behavioral health care. *Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research*, 40(4), 488-496. doi:10.1007/s11414-013-9353-z

The CACREP/CORE Merger: Implications for the Rehabilitation Counseling Identity
Suzanne Tew-Washburn

Troy University

Author Note

Correspondence concerning this article should be addressed to Dr. Suzanne Tew-Washburn, Higginbotham Hall-Suite H118, One University Place, Phenix City, AL 36869. E-mail: stew-washburn@troy.edu; Phone: 334-448-5157).

Abstract

The recent merger agreement between the Council on Rehabilitation Education (CORE) and the Council for Accreditation of Counseling and Related Education Programs (CACREP) has reintroduced long-term concerns about the future of the rehabilitation counseling profession, and in particular, the preservation of the rehabilitation counseling identity. This article reviews the evolution of the rehabilitation profession, the scope of professional practice and the rehabilitation counseling identity, licensure and certification issues, and counseling accreditation of education programs. Finally, an update on the current state of the merger of CORE and CACREP is given with some predictions about the potential shortcomings and benefits to the fields of clinical mental health and rehabilitation counseling.

Evolution of the Rehabilitation Counseling Profession

Counseling (including rehabilitation counseling) is a relatively new profession (Hagedorn, Culbreth, & Cashwell, 2012). Vocational rehabilitation is distinguished from other counseling specialties in that it was mandated through federal legislation, the Smith-Fess Act of 1920 (Barros-Bailey, 2015). Many historians, not only credit the passage of the Smith-Fess (Vocational Rehabilitation) Act with the establishment of the public rehabilitation program (Wright, 1980; Leahy & Szymanski, 1995), but also acknowledge that it was the "Act" that facilitated rehabilitation counseling's emergence as a full time occupation.

When rehabilitation legislation was included in the 1935 Social Security Act the occupation began to be seen as a more permanent service and line of work; however, it was not until the 1954 Vocational Rehabilitation Act Amendments were enacted that the field of rehabilitation counseling was well established as a profession. Prior to 1954, rehabilitation counselors held various college degrees because formal training in rehabilitation counseling was not available. A major focus of the Amendments was that it established funding for the creation of the first rehabilitation counseling graduate education programs. During this time, scholarships were also provided to recruit students for careers in the field by offering financial incentives for earning the newly developed rehabilitation counseling degrees. This scholarship program laid the groundwork over sixty years ago for the long-term training grants that are awarded universities by the Rehabilitation Services Administration (RSA) today.

Although rehabilitation counseling training programs were becoming available throughout the United States, many individuals working as rehabilitation counselors had undergraduate degrees or graduate degrees in majors other than counseling. The need for highly qualified rehabilitation counselors was identified in the Comprehensive System of Personnel

Development provisions of the 1992 and 1998 Amendments to the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Chapin, 2004); however, specific suggestions for increasing the quality of rehabilitation counselors were not provided. The term, *highly qualified personnel* was generally interpreted by the State Vocational Rehabilitation Agencies to mean that rehabilitation counselors should have a Master's Degree in Rehabilitation Counseling (or a closely related field) and/or be certified in the field. Agencies had until 2009 to show substantial compliance with the standards for qualified personnel; and, as of 2015, nearly 100% of rehabilitation counselors held graduate degrees in the field.

Scope of Professional Practice and Rehabilitation Counseling Identity

Professional identity is defined by knowledge, skills, and attitudes identified by and congruent with the development of ethical standards (Saunders, Barros-Bailey, Ridman, & Dew, 2007). Although it is one of the other counseling professions, the rehabilitation counseling identity is unique in that it is based on service to people with disabilities, knowledge about legislation, and a focus on careers and employment. Extensive research has been, and continues to be, conducted on the roles, job functions, and competencies that are needed for performing effectively as a rehabilitation counselor (Jacques, 1959; Leahy, Shapson, & Wright, 1987; Leahy, Szymanski, & Linkowski, 1993; Muthard & Salamone, 1969; Rubin et al., 1984; Wright & Fraser, 1975). Rehabilitation counselors have sometimes been considered to be more similar to caseworkers, social workers, or other human services personnel than counselors because so much of their work involves case management, needs assessment, goal-setting, vocational-specific counseling, and referrals for services outside their expertise (Jenkins, Patterson, & Szymanski, 1992). However, the practice of counseling is evident in the delivery of professional rehabilitation counseling services. In fact, a thorough knowledge of counseling theories and

techniques is necessary for carrying out the many activities involved in assisting people with disabilities in their personal and employment lives.

The rehabilitation counseling profession is continually changing because of internal forces such as the results of research and because of external forces such as rehabilitation legislation, managed care, third-party reimbursement systems, counselor licensure legislation, private practice, and technology (Chapin & Goodwin, 2006). Accreditation, certification, and licensure issues have extensive influence on the evolution of the rehabilitation counseling profession.

Licensure and Certification Issues

The National Board for Certified Counselors (NBCC) was established in 1981 (Adams, 2005); however, the certification procedures for rehabilitation counselors were developed prior to any other credentialing process for counselors (Hedgeman, 1985; Leahy & Holt, 1993).

Interest in a professional credential for rehabilitation counselors had been building for some time. The National Rehabilitation Counseling Association (NRCA) and the American Rehabilitation Counseling Association (ARCA) joined together and formed the Commission on Rehabilitation Counselor Certification (CRCC) in 1973 (Leahy & Holt, 1993). Membership on the CRCC was diverse and included representation from the Council on Rehabilitation Education (CORE), the Council of State Administrators of Vocational Rehabilitation (CSAVR), the National Association of Rehabilitation Facilities (NARF), the National Association of Non-White Rehabilitation Workers (NANWRW), as well as employers and disability consumer groups. (Hedgeman, 1985; Saunders, et al., 2007). As a result of the work of the CRCC, the first Certified Rehabilitation Counselor (CRC) examination was given in 1976 (Leahy & Holt, 1993).

Of course, change within a profession often causes a degree of friction, and the CRC credential was met with concerns. The initial certificants were not very reliable subjects for research because as volunteers, they were assumed to be highly interested and motivated to become the first credentialed counselors in their field. In order to keep the CRC examination relevant, the CRCC researched the rehabilitation counselor position in the mid 1980's and made a commitment to replicating the research every few years. In 1990, CRCC and CORE began "joint validation content research" (Leahy & Holt, 1993, p. 48) to analyze the relevance of the CRC examination and the CORE accreditation standards (Leahy & Holt, 1993), and to determine if rehabilitation graduate education was producing competent practitioners (Gill, 2005). Today, there are over CRCs in the United States and Canada. The CRC is the preferred credential of employers; however, the Licensed Professional Counseling (LPC) credential is also important for rehabilitation counselors who are employed in a mental health setting. (Chapin & Goodwin, 2006).

Accreditation

A group of rehabilitation professionals and various association members met in 1969 to discuss the need for accreditation of rehabilitation counselor education (RCE) programs. As a result, the Council on Rehabilitation Education (CORE) was incorporated in 1972 (Szymanski & Linkowski, 1993). Five professional rehabilitation organizations were represented on the CORE Board: the American Rehabilitation Association (ARA), formerly the International Association of Rehabilitation Facilities; the American Rehabilitation Counseling Association (ARCA); the Council of State Administrators of Vocational Rehabilitation (CSAVR); the National Council on Rehabilitation Education (NCRE), formerly the Council of Rehabilitation Counselor Educators; and the National Rehabilitation Counseling Association (NRCA) (CORE, 2016).

The Association for Counselors Education and Supervision (ACES) developed standards for voluntary accreditation of counseling programs in the late 1960's and the 1970's. ACES, in collaboration with the American Personnel and Guidance Association (APGA), the precursor to the American Counseling Association (ACA) began cooperative accreditation efforts that led to the establishment of the Council for Accreditation of Counseling and Related Education Programs (CACREP) in 1981. (Diambra et al., 2014; Steinhauser & Bradley, 1983).

Accreditation bodies such as CORE and CACREP seek to promote a comprehensive and diverse curriculum taught by qualified counselor educators. It should be noted, however, that while accreditation offers many benefits, there are concerns about the effect on counseling programs, as well. For example, some opponents of accreditation worry that some unintended consequences of requiring universities to conform to uniform standards are that it discourages innovation, encourages complacency, and interferes with the academic freedom of faculty (Myers, et al., 2002). Cost of accreditation is also an issue. With lean budgets, universities may have to curtail program expansions and development activities in order to pay accreditation fees. Ongoing research is needed to affirm the benefits of counseling accreditation for students, graduates, and most importantly, for the clients who seek counseling from graduates of accredited programs.

The CORE and CACREP Merger

Joint counseling accreditation has been considered for many decades. In fact, at an annual meeting of CORE in 1989, the possibility of a CORE and CACREP merger was introduced, but was met with disfavor by rehabilitation counselors who were concerned about losing the professional status that separated their work from that of other counselors (Linkowski & Szymanski, 1993). After many years of proposals and review, an affiliate agreement between

CACREP and CORE for "clinical rehabilitation counseling" was signed in 2013 (Barros-Bailey, 2015; CORE 2015). The agreement allowed university rehabilitation counseling programs that were currently offering a 60 semester hours curriculum with a focus on mental health to apply for joint accreditation. In other words, rehabilitation counseling programs meeting the newly established clinical rehabilitation counseling criteria could be accredited by both CORE and CACREP. The affiliate agreement was seen as a compromise between separate accreditation and a complete merger. Two years later, after many discussions between the two accreditation boards, a full merger was announced:

On July 20, 2015, the counseling profession's two major accrediting organizations – the Council on Rehabilitation Education (CORE) and the Council for Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs (CACREP)— signed a Plan of Merger Agreement. The Plan, approved by both the CORE Board and CACREP Board at their respective summer meetings, represents several years of discussions on strengthening the counseling profession through the establishment of a single unified accreditation process for counselor preparation programs... (CORE Press Release, July 20, 2015).

Beginning July 1, 2017, CORE will no longer be active and CACREP will carry out the mission of both organizations. Rehabilitation counselor education programs that are accredited by CORE and are considered to be in good standing as of July 1, 2017 will automatically become accredited by CACREP for the remainder of the time they would have been if CORE had continued as an accreditation body. When their accreditation period expires, the rehabilitation

counseling education programs will be required to apply under the *CACREP Standards for Rehabilitation Counselor Education Programs* that are currently under development.

At an April, 2016 symposium for CORE/CACREP peer site reviewers at the annual meeting of the National Council on Rehabilitation Education in Newport Beach, California, both beneficial and problematic issues concerning the merger were introduced. Some of the issues discussed are described below (CORE/CACREP, 2016).

Potential Problems Associated with the CACREP/CORE Merger:

- Although current rehabilitation counselor educators will be "grandfathered" as CACREP
 approved faculty, doctoral educators in rehabilitation counseling may need to make
 significant changes in the curriculum provided future educators.
- Disability studies as part of rehabilitation counseling education may be diluted in order to allow more courses in mental health to be added to the rehabilitation counseling curriculum.
- Rehabilitation counseling may be conceptualized as a specialty area of counseling practice rather than as an independent profession.
- CACREP only accredits graduate programs; therefore, undergraduate rehabilitation services programs that are currently accredited by CORE will no longer be accredited.
 (Undergraduate programs will need to seek accreditation from another field such as Human Studies or be satisfied to be on a registry with CACREP.)

Likely Benefits of the CACREP/CORE Merger:

 One accreditation review process for university programs that currently have both CORE and CACREP programs will be more time and cost efficient.

- The unification of the counseling profession may have more influence on legislation affecting counselors and their clients.
- An increased number of rehabilitation counselors may be eligible for the Licensed Professional Counselor (LPC) credential in states that do not accept rehabilitation counseling education as a requisite counseling degree. (Currently, graduates of 48 semester hour rehabilitation counseling programs accredited by CORE are eligible for licensure in both Alabama and Georgia; however, Florida requires graduates to hold a 60 semester hour clinical mental health degree. Licensure requirements vary across the nation with the CACREP degree often being required.)
- Clinical mental health students may learn about disabilities from their rehabilitation counterparts, and as a result become interested in taking the additional courses and internships needed for eligibility as a Certified Rehabilitation Counselor (CRC).

Summary

The rich history of the rehabilitation counseling profession in the United States includes nearly a century of continuous growth; therefore, it is reasonable to expect that the new challenges posed by the CACREP/CORE merger will be met with positive change. In many respects, rehabilitation counseling will be recognized as a true partner by the larger counseling community as unification efforts take place (Estrada-Hernández, 2016). Most importantly, rehabilitation counseling's focus on advocacy for people with disabilities will begin to be immersed throughout the other counseling professions, and rehabilitation counseling students and educators alike will gain valuable insight from their association with their counseling colleagues.

References

- Barros-Bailey, M. (2015). Ethics and the family in rehabilitation counseling. *Journal of Rehabilitation Counseling*, 81 (2),
- Chapin, M.H. (2004) Employers preferences for bachelors and masters level rehabilitation graduates. *College Student Journal*, *38*, 1-8.
- Chapin, M.H., & Goodwin, L.R. (2006) Rehabilitation counseling education students: A partial replication study. *College Student Journal*, 40, 1-14.
- CORE (2016). What is Core? Retrieved from http://www.core-rehab.org/WhatIsCORE CORE Press Release (2015). Retrieved from http://www.core-rehab.org.
- CORE/CACREP (2016). Peer Site Reviewers Seminar, National Rehabilitation Counseling Education Annual Conference, Newport Beach, CA, April, 2016.
- Diambra, J.F., Gibbons, M.M., Cochran, J.L., Spurgeon, S., Jarnagin, S., & Wynn, P.W. (2014). The symbiotic relationship of the counseling professions accreditation body, ACA, and the flagship journal. *The Professional Counselor: Research and Practice, 1*(1), 82-91.
- Estrada-Hernández, N. (2016). NCRE President's Message: Traditional Rehabilitation

 Counseling Programs and the CORE/CACREP Merger. Retrieved from https://ncre.org.
- Gill, K.J. (2005). Experience is not always the best teacher: Lessons from the certified psychiatric rehabilitation practitioner certificate program. *American Journal of Psychiatric Rehabilitation*, 8, 151-164.
- Hagedorn, W.B., Culbreth, J.R., & Cashwell, D.S. (2012). Addiction counseling accreditation:

 CACREP's role in solidifying the counseling profession. *The Professional Counselor*, 2

 (2), 124-133.

- Hedgeman, B.S. (1985). Rehabilitation counseling certification. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 63, 609- 610.
- Jacques, M.E. (1959). *Critical counseling behavior in rehabilitation settings*. Iowa City: State University of Iowa, College of Education.
- Jenkins, W., Patterson, J.B., & Szymanski, E.M. (1992). Philosophical, historic, and legislative aspects of the rehabilitation counseling profession. In. R.M. Parker & E.M. Szymanski (Eds.). *Rehabilitation counseling: Ethics and beyond.* (2nd edition, pp. 1-41). Austin, TX: PRO-ED.
- Leahy, M.J., & Holt, E, (1993). Certification in rehabilitation counseling: History and process.

 *Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin, 37, 71-80.
- Leahy, M.J., Shapson, P.R., & Wright, G.N. (1987). Rehabilitation competencies by role and setting. *Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin*, 31, 119-131.
- Leahy, M.J., & Szymanski, E.M. (1995). Rehabilitation counseling: Evolution and current status.

 **Journal of Counseling and Development, 74, 163-166.
- Leahy, M. J., Szymanski, E. M., & Linkowski, D. C. (1993). Knowledge importance in rehabilitation counseling. *Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin*, *37*, 130-145.
- Linkowski, D. L., & Szymanski, E. M. (1993). Accreditation in rehabilitation counseling:

 Historical and current content and process. *Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin*, *37*, 81-90.
- Myers, J.E., Sweeney, T.J., & White, V.E. (2002). Advocacy for counseling and counselors: A professional imperative. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 80, 394-401.
- Muthard, J., & Salamone, P. (1969). The roles and functions of the rehabilitation counselor. *Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin, 13*, 81-168.

- Rubin, S.E., Matkin, R.E., Ashley, J.J., Beardsley, M.M., May, V.R., Onstott, K., & Puckett,F.D. (1984). Roles and functions of certified rehabilitation counselors. RehabilitationCounseling Bulletin, 27, 199-224.
- Saunders, J.L., Barros-Bailey, M., Ridman, R., & Dew, D. (2007). Ethical compliance and violations in rehabilitation. *Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin*, 51(1), 7-13.
- Steinhauser, L., & Bradley, R. (1983). Accreditation of counselor education programs.

 Counseling Education and Supervision, (23) 2, 98-108.
- Szymanski, E. M., & Linkowski, D. C. (1995). Rehabilitation counseling accreditation: Validity and reliability. *Journal of Rehabilitation*, 61(1), 12-17.
- Wright, G.N. (1980). Total Rehabilitation. Boston: Little Brown.
- Wright, G.N., & Fraser, R.T. (1975). Task analysis for the evaluation, preparation,
 classification, and utilization of rehabilitation counselor track personnel. Wisconsin
 Studies in Rehabilitation. (Monograph no. 22, Series 3). Madison: University of
 Wisconsin.

The Alabama Counseling Association Journal

An official publication of the Alabama Counseling Association, The Alabama Counseling Association Journal is an electronic journal published twice a year. A primary purpose is to communicate ideas and information which can help counselors in a variety of work settings implement their roles and develop the profession of counseling. The Journal may include thought-provoking articles, theoretical summaries, reports of research, and discussions of professional issues, summaries of presentations, reader reactions, and reviews of books or media. The ALCA Journal is located on the ALCA website (www.alabamacounseling.org).

Inquiries about The Journal should be directed to:

Dr. Ervin L. Wood ALCA Executive Director 217 Daryle Street Livingston, Alabama 35470 Telephone: (205) 652-1712

Email: chip@alabamacounseling.org

MANUSCRIPTS: Practitioners, educators, and researchers in the fields of guidance, counseling, and development are encouraged to submit manuscripts. While priority will be given to ALCA members, counselors from other states and countries are valued contributors. Manuscripts, which conform to the Guidelines for Authors, must be submitted to the

Editor: Dr. Eddie Clark

Email: Edclk@aol.com

EDITORIAL BOARD: The ALCA Journal Editorial Board consists of one representative from each division of The Alabama Counseling Association. Members serve three-year terms for which a rotation schedule has been established. The primary function of the Editorial Board is to assist in determining the content of publications. At least two members of the Editorial Board read each manuscript submitted to the publication through a blind review system. No honoraria or travel funds are provided for Editorial Board members.

Guidelines for Authors

The purpose of The Alabama Counseling Association Journal is to communicate ideas and information that can help counselors in a variety of work settings implement their counseling roles and develop the profession of counseling. A function of The Journal is to strengthen the common bond among counselors and to help maintain a mutual awareness of the roles, the

problems, and the progress of the profession at its various levels. In this context, thought provoking articles, theoretical summaries, reports of research, descriptive techniques, summaries of presentations, discussions of professional issues, reader reactions, and reviews of books and media are highly recommended. Manuscripts that are theoretical, philosophical, or researched-oriented should contain discussion of the implications and /or practical applications. All manuscripts that contain data derived from human subjects and are submitted by individuals associated with a university or college, are required to obtain Institutional Review Board approval from their respective institution. Description of such approval will be stated in the Methodology section of the manuscript. Authors should ground their work with an appropriate review of the literature.

Review process

Authors are asked to submit an electronic original copy in Microsoft Word. All manuscripts should be prepared according to the Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association (6th Edition). Manuscripts that are not written in compliance with publication guidelines will be returned to the author with a general explanation of the deficiencies. Manuscripts that meet The ALCA Journal publication guidelines will be distributed to a minimum of two (2) members of the Editorial Board. The Editor will synthesize the reviewers" comments and inform the authors of both publication decisions and recommendations. Anonymity of authors and reviewers will be protected.

Procedures to be followed by authors

- 1. Manuscripts must be word processed on eight and one-half by eleven inch white paper with double spacing and one-inch margins
- 2. Authors should make every effort to submit a manuscript that contains no clues to the author's identity. Citations that may reveal the author's identity should be masked within the text and reference listing.
- 3. Author notes including current position, work address, telephone number, and email address should be included on a separate page. Other pages should exclude such affiliations.
- 4. Camera ready tables or figures should be prepared and submitted on separate pages.
- 5. Recommended length of manuscripts is between 13 and 20 pages.
- 6. Authors should submit only original work that has not been published elsewhere and is not under review by another journal. Lengthy quotations (300-500 words) require written permission from the copyright holder for reproduction. Adaptation of figures and tables also requires reproduction approval. It is the author's responsibility to secure such permission and provide documentation to the ALCA Journal Editor upon acceptance for publication.

- 7. Protection of client and subject anonymity is the responsibility of authors. Identifying information should be avoided in description and discussion.
- 8. Authors should consult the APA Publications Manual (6th edition) for guidelines related to discriminatory language in regard to gender, sexual orientation, racial and ethnic identity, disability, and age.
- 9. Authors should consult the APA Publications Manual (6th edition) for guidelines regarding the format of the manuscript and matters of editorial style.
- 10. The terms counselor, counseling, and client are preferred, rather than their many synonyms.
- 11. Authors bear full responsibility for the accuracy of references, quotations, tables, figures, and other matters of editorial style.
- 12. The ALCA Journal expects authors to follow the Code of Ethics and Standards of Practice of the American Counseling Association (also adopted by the Alabama Counseling Association) related to publication including authorship, concurrent submissions, and Institutional Review Board approval for studies involving human subjects.

Publication procedures

Authors of accepted manuscripts will be asked to submit a final, electronic manuscript in Word format. All manuscripts accepted for publication will be edited and altered for clarity. No alterations that change the integrity of the article will be made without the primary author's permission. Authors whose manuscripts are accepted may be asked to review manuscripts subsequent to the publication of the article in The ALCA Journal.